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Since Copernicus man rolls from the centre into X.

—F. Nietzsche: The Will to Power

All the wealth of love lavished of old upon Him, who was immortal, would be turned upon the whole of nature, on the world, on men, on every blade of grass.

—F. M. Dostoevsky: A Raw Youth



PREFACE

SOME of the material used in the early sections of this book was collected in the Museum in Djakarta, the library of the University of Malaya in Singapore, and the National Archives in Delhi during a trip which was made possible by a grant from the Rockefeller Foundation in New York. I would like to thank the Rockefeller Foundation for making that possible. Some of it was collected in the Public Record Office and the British Museum in London, the Public Library in Dublin, and the Archives in the Hague, and I would like to thank the librarians and archivists of those institutions for their help. Some of it was collected at the Mitchell Library in Sydney, the State Library of Victoria, and the library of the Royal Society in Hobart, to all of which I owe a great debt. Most of the material was collected in the National Library in Canberra, from the great collection gathered by the librarian, H. L. White, and made available by his courteous and helpful staff. In particular I would like to thank Mrs Fanning and Miss Patricia Tiernan. I would also like to thank Jennifer Ratcliffe for typing the manuscript, and H. E. Gunther, of the Australian National University, for drawing the maps. There are also debts to Keith Hancock and Gavin Long, who taught me how to begin, and to Kurt Baier, Don Baker, Asa Briggs, David Campbell, Geoffrey Fairbairn, Bruce Grant, Ruth Knight, James McAuley and Michael Roe, who read drafts or talked on what it is all about. There is a very special debt to those students in Melbourne whom it was my great good fortune to teach in the years after the war. In their company one felt it might be possible to tackle the mighty theme of the coming of European civilization to Australia.
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THE FORERUNNERS



1

THE EARLIEST TIMES TO CATHOLIC CHRISTENDOM

CIVILIZATION did not begin in Australia until the last quarter of the eighteenth century. The reason lies partly in the environment and way of life of the people inhabiting the continent before the coming of the European, and partly in the internal history of those Hindu, Chinese, and Muslim civilizations which colonized and traded in the archipelago of south-east Asia. The early inhabitants of the continent created cultures but not civilizations.1 The first of these were the Negrito people—short, dark-skinned, curly-haired and broad-nosed—who were forced to migrate from their hunting grounds in south-east Asia by the movement into those areas of people of a higher material culture, at a time when Tasmania, Australia and New Guinea formed part of the land mass of Asia.

Later another people arrived—the Murrayians, who were related to the Ainu in Japan and either destroyed the Negritos or drove them into the valleys behind Cairns, and south to what is now Tasmania, the islands of Bass Strait and Kangaroo Island. Then, in turn, the Murrayians were challenged and displaced by the Carpentarians—a people probably related to the Vedda of Ceylon, who settled in the northern portion of Australia after driving the Murrayians southwards in their turn. When the ice receded in northern Asia and in Antarctica, the climate of central Australia gradually became drier. The rivers ran only in wet seasons; the inland lakes turned into salt pans; the huge animals dependent on such water died out, leaving their bones as a memorial of a time before the days of desolation. As the ice sheets melted, the levels of the ocean gradually rose till Tasmania, Kangaroo Island, Australia, New Guinea and the islands of the Indonesian and Malay archipelagos were cut off from each other by stretches of sea.2

Of the way of life of these three peoples before the coming of European civilization, little need, or indeed can, be said. On their numbers on the mainland of Australia the estimates of anthropologists, historians and missionaries have always differed; some put the figure as high as one million four hundred thousand, while others put it at approximately three hundred thousand.3 Estimates of the number of Tasmanian aboriginals in the period before the coming of the European also differed greatly, some missionaries suggesting two hundred thousand while secular observers put the figure as low as between four thousand and seven thousand.4 Neither the Negritos nor the Murrayians, nor indeed the Carpentarians, made the advance from barbarism to civilization. The age of belief was inclined to explain this as a special punishment for their part in the Fall, by which the snake was condemned to go on his belly all his days, the man to produce bread in the sweat of his brow, the woman to produce children in pain and anguish, and the aborigine, together with primitive people in the rest of the world, to suffer the drudgery and the wretchedness of the uncivilized.5

A more secular age has looked for material explanations for this failure, rather than ponder the inscrutable ways of providence, or judge a people’s moral worth by its material achievements. Historians and anthropologists have written more of the aborigines’ intelligent adaptation to their environment, and of the absence of suitable grain for crops or of animals to domesticate as the reasons for their failure to advance from barbarism; while in moments of doubt or spiritual sickness some have esteemed the absence of material refinements and social order as a blessing rather than a curse, as a source of happiness rather than a misery.6 For all writings on the aborigines both on the mainland and in Tasmania, have mirrored the civilization of their authors, of those driven by the hope of salvation or the fear of damnation, as well as those in pursuit of some secular millennium, or the advancement of knowledge. But, whatever the reason may have been, the failure of the aborigines to emerge from a state of barbarism deprived them of the material resources with which to resist an invader, and left them without the physical strength to protect their culture.

Other peoples have recovered from the destruction of their culture, but that of the aborigines was to wither when in contact with other races; for the aborigine was also endowed with a tenacious, if not unique inability to detect meaning in any way of life other than his own; and by one of those ironies in human affairs it was this very inability to live outside the framework of his own culture that prevented any subsequent invaders from using the aborigine for their own purposes. This, in turn, relieved the European from the evil consequences of reducing an indigenous population to slavery or semi-slavery. It protected the aborigine from such slavery or some form of forced labour, but at the price of the total destruction of the Tasmanian aborigine, and the gradual destruction of aboriginal culture on the mainland.7

The odd thing is why no invasion occurred between the end of the ice age in the twenty-fifth millennium and the coming of the European in the last quarter of the eighteenth century.8 For even after the levels of the ocean rose there was no geographical barrier to such an invasion, as it was possible during six months of every year for people with the most primitive craft to proceed from island to island in the Indonesian archipelago, thence to New Guinea, and across the narrow straits to the north coast of Australia. At the beginning of recorded history an imaginary line on a map drawn from Timor through Banda to Macassar in the Celebes, marked the point where civilization ended and barbarism began. The very word Timor (meaning the East) suggested the end of the civilized, if not the habitable world. The two Malay migrations into the area, the first in approximately 3000 B.C. and the second beginning in approximately 200 B.C., did not cross this line, mainly because of the absence of need, but probably also because of the absence of established knowledge of those areas.9 Then, over a period of fifteen hundred years and more, the three great colonizing movements in Asia—the Hindu-Buddhists, the Chinese, and the Muslim merchants—moved into the area, without advancing beyond Timor and Macassar. They speculated and phantasized about the lands and peoples in the unknown parts beyond in stories which were to excite curiosity when the internal weakness of the Asian states prepared the way for the coming of the European.

The Hindu-Buddhists, partly from population pressure, partly to obtain spices, fragrant woods and gold, and partly to win converts for their religious faith, began to colonize Sumatra, Java, and the islands of the archipelago in the first century of the Christian era. This was colonization by infiltration rather than conquest. Yet the Hindu-Buddhist, despite his lust for wealth and his religious zeal, did not advance the limits of the known world. The Hindu religion (though not the Buddhist) prohibited sea voyages, as well as contact with foreigners,10 and a queer ‘geography’ supplemented the teaching of religion. For the Hindu believed the world was flat and triangular; that it was composed of seven distinct habitations, each surrounded by its own peculiar sea; that one sea was of milk, another of sugar, another of butter, another of wine, and so on; that the whole of this world was supported on the heads of elephants, whose occasional motion was the cause of earth-quakes.11 But it was the advent of Islam both in the mother country and in the archipelago which ended Hindu-Buddhist colonization and evangelization by the middle of the fifteenth century.

In Java and Sumatra and the other islands of the archipelago, the Hindu-Buddhists left their memorials in stone, which represented their conception of the fate of man both in his journey across the terrible ocean of life as well as of this life as a passage from one eternity to another. In their folk stories they first created and then handed on to posterity the first speculations of a civilized people on the world to the south of Java, as well as to the south and east of Timor. The first of these was the story of the islands of gold; on the location of these islands they could give no information, but what they lacked in exact knowledge they made good by the exercise of their delightful imaginations. They put there a city, the palaces of which gleamed with fabric of gold, where men enjoyed an ineffable happiness with fair-eyed wives in charming gardens, the lakes of which had steps made out of jewels.12 Or so the Hindu story ran. For though not all their successors were so gullible or so credulous as to accept this fruit of the Hindu imagination, all voyagers from the Indies in search of wealth were looking for the fabulous islands: the Chinese, the Muslims, the Portuguese, the Spanish, the Dutch, the French and the English, the unbeliever, the Mussulman, the Catholic and the Protestant, as well as those not touched by any vision of God’s throne, were all driven on by the hope of finding the islands of gold.

By an odd irony, the Hindus, who had woven the tale which lured men to every possible fate except the discovery of gold, also handed on from generation to generation a story to deter men from exploring those areas. This was the story of the tree of Pausengi which stood with its crown above water in the seas south of Java. On its branches there lived a bird, Geruda, shaped like a griffin, which flew by night, taking in its claws an elephant, a tiger, a rhinoceros or any large animal, which it carried to its nest. In those seas the currents from all directions flowed towards this tree, and the ships which were carried along by them were sucked into an abyss, while the crews died of hunger or fell prey to the Geruda. For this reason, the Javanese and all who lived on the south coast of the islands as far east as Timor were afraid to proceed more than three miles out of sight of land; on finding the current carrying them southward they abandoned their junks and rowed for the shore in small boats for fear of being drawn into the abyss of Pausengi from which there was no return. So attached were they to the story that later, when the Dutch told them how Tasman had discovered a great land in the south seas and had found neither abyss nor Pausengi, they could make no reply except that the tree must nevertheless stand somewhere in the south because its fruits were cast upon the south coasts of the islands. So the Hindu declared the south seas taboo, or ‘pamali’, or ‘boejoet’, an expression which they handed to the Dutch, whose equipment, knowledge and religion emancipated them from the terrors which overwhelmed the Hindu.13

The second colonizing power in the area was the Chinese. Their economic interests were three-fold: to establish a depot in the vicinity of the equator for their trade with India, Africa, the Middle East, and Europe; to trade with the Celebes for trepang and the bird of paradise; and to trade with Timor for sandalwood.14 The first interest turned their backs to the south seas; the second and the third both brought them to the line that divided civilization from barbarism, and might well have caused them to look further south for the trepang as the fishing grounds in the Celebes became exhausted. The Bugis probably did the carrying trade from the islands to the Chinese depots at Djakarta and Sri-vijaya, where the goods were finally transshipped to Chinese junks. From their encyclopaedias, their dynastic histories, and the special accounts of the area published between 1300 and 1500, it is clear that the Chinese knew the Malay peninsula, Sumatra, Java, Bali, Lombok, Timor, the Moluccas, Celebes, and Borneo. On their maps they marked the rest as unknown seas, and their scholars confessed their ignorance. ‘Regarding the foreign countries of the barbarians south-east of the South Sea . . . there is no means of investigating them because of their great distance . . . Those who speak of them are unable to say anything definite, while those who say something definite cannot be trusted. Hence, I am compelled to omit them here.’ So wrote Chu-Ssu-Pen in the introduction to his atlas published in Peking between 1311 and 1320.15

Like those of the Hindus, the Chinese descriptions of the area lapsed from fact to fantasy as soon as they reached that invisible frontier on the map beyond Timor. East of Shö-P’o, ran one of their descriptions in the thirteenth century, lies the ocean sea where the waters flow downward: there is the kingdom of women. Still further east, it continued, is the Wei-Lü, a great hole in the ocean down which the waters of the oceans of the world are drained.16 Such knowledge was not extended either by the seven voyages of Cheng Ho between 1407 and 1431, or by information from the people doing the carrying trade for the Chinese between Java, Timor, Celebes and the Moluccas. For the aim of Cheng Ho was to keep open the sea route between south China, Java, India and Africa, rather than the exploration of unknown seas. Cheng Ho set out to perform for the Chinese what da Gama at the end of the same century did for the Portuguese: to open up a sea route to the sources of wealth.17 It was probably not till the arrival of the Dutch that the Bugis seamen began collecting trepang, a sea-slug in great demand at the Chinese court, from the shores of the Gulf of Carpentaria. So the absence of an incentive to explore the world beyond its known limits cheated the Asian both of the discovery and the colonization of Australia, for by the time any incentive to search beyond those seas was felt, the Asian colonizing powers were impotent. In 1433 the voyages of Cheng Ho were abruptly ended by a palace revolution at the Chinese court when a rival group, which despised trade and luxury and frowned on all contact with foreign barbarians, took over from the party sponsoring Cheng Ho.18 The Chinese domination in the Indonesian archipelago withered away on the very eve of the period in which the Portuguese in Europe were making the advances in ship-building, nautical instruments and cartography which would enable their ships to leave the coasts and sail out on to the mighty ocean. So the Chinese lost their first chance to colonize the lands in the unknown seas. Yet their legacy in the archipelago was not without its influence, for their withdrawal presented the opportunity for any other people driven by greed and by a conviction that the earth and the fullness thereof was theirs both as a fact and as part of divine intention. In the 1430s it looked as though this inheritor of the Chinese would be the Muslim merchants from Persia and the Gujerati province of India.

The spread of Islam in the Indies occurred in a piecemeal fashion. Muslim merchants and missionaries had arrived in west Java by the end of the eleventh century. From that time until 1600 the history of the Indies was in part the story of conversion, sometimes by persuasion and sometimes by force, to the religion of Islam. Political power followed in the wake of trade and religion, beginning with the creation of the Mohammedan kingdoms in Malacca and Java in the fifteenth century, and in the Moluccas early in the sixteenth century, with a long bloody war of attrition during that century to establish a Mohammedan kingdom at Macassar. This brought them to the frontiers of civilization, from which, if they had pushed further in search of gold or spices or fragrant woods, or souls for Islam, they would have moved on into New Guinea and from there across to the north coasts of Australia.19 They had begun to do this just when the coming of the European ended the spread of Islam, for when Torres first sailed through the strait which still bears his name, he met Moors in west New Guinea.20 That was in 1607. This marked the limits of the Muslim expansion and knowledge of the area.

Like his predecessors, the Hindu and the Chinese, the Muslim lapsed into fantasy when he described the world south and east of the line between civilization and barbarism. Before 1400 their sailors referred to it as Dedjdal or the kingdom of Antichrist. As late as 1554 they were still circulating stories calculated to deter their sailors from the waters to the south and south-east of Java, for there, according to one of their manuals for seamen, in the Mohit, or the ocean, was an island called Wak Wak on which a fruit in the shape of a human skull grew. As soon as the fruit ripened it fell to the ground, when a voice came forth from the skull crying ‘Wak Wak’. The power of God, ran the refrain at the end of the story, is limitless: God, the Lord, is all-powerful.21 So the Muslims took over the old Hindu story of Geruda and embroidered it with a puff for Allah. Yet these terrors of Geruda, of the kingdom of women, of Dedjdal, or of Wak Wak, melted as mists before the rising sun when improvements in ship-building, in aids to navigation and cartography, inspired the confidence to leave the coasts. By the time such changes had occurred, the Muslim had been superseded in the area by the Portuguese and the Dutch. The material weakness of the Asian states, their lack of sea power, together with the long and bloody struggle between Hindu and Muslim, created the conditions for the success of the European in the archipelago. One of the by-products of this was the coming of European civilization to Australia. So the internal history of the Asian states explains why Hindu, Chinese and Muslim did not cross that line between civilization and barbarism, just as it explains in part why not only the discovery, but also the first permanent occupation of Australia since the ice age was begun by Europeans.22

Like the Hindus and the Muslims, the Europeans were searching for spices, gold, and fragrant woods, as well as for souls for the true religion. Like the Hindus and the Muslims, too, the first European accounts of the area in the first century were ill-informed, and described the Malayan archipelago as the end of the habitable world. They called it an island opposite the mouth of the Ganges, adding that the regions beyond were either difficult of access because of their severe winters and great cold, or else could not be sought out because of the influence of the gods.23 By the third century, the Europeans had copied from the Hindu the habit of reporting the fantasies about those people who lived beyond the boundaries of civilization. They wrote a delightful story of a people not more than one cubit high, with ears as large and long as themselves, one of which served for a mattress, and the other for bed clothes.24 By the end of the thirteenth century, travellers’ reports, especially those of Marco Polo, enabled their cartographers to trace a crude sketch of the islands which whetted the appetites of those interested in material gain. For Polo had written of a country abounding with rich commodities, of quantities of gold exceeding all calculation and belief, of a land where it was possible to obtain the greatest part of the spices distributed throughout the world. Polo had written enthusiastically also of a land to the south of Java, which he called Lochac or Beach.25 When the Europeans investigated the area beyond the habitable world, the area south and east of the line from Timor through the Moluccas to Macassar, they were searching for Lochac—the islands of gold.

There were, however, two differences between the European discussion and the Asian. In the European discussion the speculation about the lands to the south or south-east of Java became tangled up and even confounded with the search for a south land, a terra australis incognita. The idea of a terra australis was as old as Pythagoras, and accepted by Greek and Roman writers who lent the authority of their name to the idea by placing the words ‘terra australis incognita’ on land to the south of Africa, India and Asia.26 Then for a few centuries, they relied too literally on holy scripture for their ideas on the unknown parts of the world; Augustine had dismissed the idea of an unknown southern continent by reminding his readers that scripture said nothing of Adam’s descendants in a ‘terra australis’, while the monk Cosmas in the sixth century dismissed the theory as blasphemous because it made Christ a liar, and His word not in us.27 By the twelfth century, when the church learned its geography from the Greeks and the Arabs rather than from the Old Testament, the ‘terra australis incognita’ began to reappear on the maps of the world.

The second difference lay in the knowledge and equipment possessed by the Europeans. For in the fifteenth century improvements in ship-building, in aids to navigation and in map-making made it possible for their ships to cross the oceans. The first to move into the Indonesian archipelago were almost untouched by curiosity about a ‘terra australis’, but excited by the stories of islands of gold. They were the Portuguese. Vasco da Gama reached the coast of India in 1498; by 1511 Alfonso de Albuquerque had conquered Malacca, and by the end of the same year two Portuguese ships under Antonio d’Abreu reached Banda in the Moluccas.28 Their motives probably set the limits of their expansion. For these men were both inspired and led on to their destruction by a great dream—that by winning a monopoly of the spice trade they would destroy the abominable, ignominious and false veneration of Mohammed, the head of the vain Moorish religion, and so win infinite merit before the Most High God.29 Albuquerque put forward a scheme to divert the Nile to the Red Sea in order to make the lands of the Grand Turk sterile, and then to capture Mecca and carry away the bones of Mohammed so that, as he put it, these being reduced publicly to ashes, the votaries of so foul a sect might be confounded.30 Whether in this grandiose, quixotic attempt to destroy Islam and obtain the monopoly of the spice trade, to save their own souls and gain the whole world, the Portuguese seamen either stumbled on the coast of Australia, or drew on their maps the outlines of a country about which they had heard from Bugis or Banda seamen, must remain an open question.31 In any event, the answer has little bearing on the coming of European civilization to Australia.

For the legacy of the Portuguese lay not in any knowledge of Australia which they handed on to their successors, the Dutch. It lay rather in their behaviour in the Indonesian archipelago, in all the behaviour to which they were driven by their greed as well as their vision of themselves as the intrepid soldiers of Christ and as the vessels for the destruction of a rival religion. They were men stained by sin, men moved by gigantic forces of good and evil, men who were tormented by the prospect that eternal damnation, and not infinite merit before the Most High God might be the prize for their behaviour in this world. Driven as they were by such religious zeal, by a dream of one fold and one shepherd for the whole of mankind, they committed deeds which to those who did not share such an aspiration stained the reputation of Catholic Christendom. The Muslim was disgusted by the apparent worship of idols, and the God eating. The Muslim was horrified by the use of the Inquisition against low-caste ‘converts’ on the west coast of India who had lapsed back into Hindu beliefs or practices. It seemed to him monstrous that numbers of them were consigned to the flames, and piously consigned to eternal damnation for acts of the greatest simplicity and folly.32 The Muslim was appalled, too, by the deeds of cruelty against the Dutch heretics, by such incidents as occurred at Tidore in the Moluccas in 1599 when Portuguese seamen first cut off the arms, then the legs, and then split open the heads of some Dutch seamen who were contesting their monopoly of the spice trade as well as endangering the eternal salvation of the inhabitants.33 It was the memory of such supercilious intolerance that survived, rather than those deeds of compassion or heroism inspired by the image of Christ in their hearts; and by one of those droll results in human history the immediate result of all their sound and fury was to prepare the way for the successes of the Dutch heretics by weakening the Muslim states in the archipelago.

This contribution of the Portuguese did not end the association of Catholic Christendom with the coming of European civilization to Australia. In 1519 a Portuguese, Magellan, in the service of the king of Spain, sailed from Seville to find a route to the wealth of China and the Indies round the south of America, as well as to contribute to the glory of Almighty God and His church by converting barbarous nations to the Christian faith. To the single-mindedness of Magellan, and to the faith which sustained him against mutiny and terrible privations till he found a strait into the Pacific, only the poets can testify. In that moment of victory when the flagship the Vittoria swept out on to that ‘very vast sea’, the captain-general began to cry, and he gave the name of Cape of Desire to this cape as a thing which had been much desired for a long time. After they entered the Pacific, they remained for three months and twenty days without taking in provisions, and believed that if Our Lord and His Mother had not aided them with good weather they would all have died of hunger, for, in the words of the priest who wrote down their experiences in words befitting the majesty of their achievement, ‘I think that never man will undertake to perform such a voyage.’ For they were men of faith. They had opened up a new route to the wealth of Asia; they had opened a route from which to search for new lands, and later for a ‘terra australis’, as Drake, Cavendish, Schouten, Le Maire, Roggeveen, Byron, Anson, Wallis, Carteret and Cook followed in their train. For just as the discovery of the north and west coasts of Australia was a by-product of European interest in the Indies, the discovery of the east coast was a long-term by-product of Magellan’s voyage.34 Yet neither of these discoveries was made by Catholic Christendom, for in the year that Magellan’s blood was staining the sands in an island of the Philippines, the unity of Christendom was sundered. Just as the Portuguese had wasted their substance attempting to destroy the horrid sect of Mohammed, so much of the wealth, the energy and the talent of Christendom in Spain was drained by the decision of Charles V to stake his lands, his friends, his body, his blood, his life and his soul so that he and the ‘noble German nation’ would not be for ever disgraced by the survival of heresy.35 Yet in the resurgence of vigour and the missionary enthusiasm stimulated by that challenge, Catholic Christendom came close to the discovery of Australia.

Between 1559 and 1607 the Spaniards based on Lima in Peru made a series of voyages in the west and south Pacific in which the hopes of finding wealthy lands close to the Indies were tangled up with the quest for a ‘terra australis’, a desire to win souls for Christ, and a terror lest the poison of heresy should arrive in those seas before them. As early as 1526 one of their seamen, Saavedra, had discovered the north coast of New Guinea on a return journey from Tidore in the Moluccas, and he had reported the country to abound in gold.36 This fitted in with the Inca legend which the Spaniards picked up in Peru of two rich islands due west of Lima visited by their legendary folk-hero.37 It also fitted in with the ideas their seamen and officials were absorbing from their geographers, who had produced their reasons for postulating a south land, which it was assumed must be wealthy. The men of God testified also that both sacred writ and philosophical reasoning pointed to there being as great a surface of land uncovered in the southern hemisphere as in the northern. Their religious expectations were to enlighten and convert to Christianity all infidels, and to lead them as labourers into the vineyard of their Lord.38 By 1580 the spread of heresy in Europe had enlivened this religious motive with a sense of urgency, for by then all true believers were tormented by the fear that the English and Dutch heretics would infect with the depravity of their apostasy countless number of Gentiles in the south seas.39

So for wealth, for power, for all the pomps and vanities of this world, but above all that the people in the south seas walking in darkness might see a pure light, not a light smutted by the pernicious poisons of Luther and Calvin, Mendana sailed out on to the high seas from Callao in Peru in 1567, and steered west-south-west over strange and perilous seas. Like Magellan, Mendana believed it was God who released them from perils through the intercession of His Blessed Mother whom they ever called upon to intercede for them. So they sailed west, with the crew becoming restless, as the days passed without a trace of the islands of gold, for they shared the greed, but not the vision of the men in high places. They wanted the filthy lucre, but not the agony, not the physical hardships inseparable from their mission. On 7 February 1568 they discovered a group of islands, later called the Solomons, Mendana naming the one where they anchored Santa Ysabel.40 There, they held a council to which Mendana put the case for sailing south in search of the ‘terra australis’. But the pilots, the men looking for the worldly satisfactions, voted him down. So they turned for Mexico, ensuring for Mendana the lesser honour and distinction of being the first of those who might have discovered the east coast of Australia. In 1595 he won second place in the same roll of honour, for in that year he sailed again in search of the islands of gold, of lands for his Catholic Majesty, of souls for Christ and His Church; but that land or lands which the men of science and the men of God, let alone the authority of Inca legend, had assured him were surely there, eluded him as they eluded all the searchers, whatever their faith or persuasion, till the mighty Cook. For by an extraordinary dispensation of fate those who searched by sailing west from Callao were destined to lose heart in the islands which dot that vast expanse of sea between the Marquesas and the Solomons, while those who searched after passing through the straits of Magellan were driven by mountainous seas, unfavourable winds and currents, to follow the northern or the central route across the Pacific.41

The last of the searchers from Callao was Pedro Ferdandez de Quiros. He was one of the flowers of the Catholic reformation, part of that movement of religious idealism and of missionary fervour which strengthened the church after the disasters of Luther and Calvin. It was a movement which inspired Francis Xavier as a most loving brother wholly in Christ to spread the holy faith in India, in Malacca, in Macao, even as far as Japan,42 which inspired the Jesuit missionaries to endure the most unspeakable tortures at the hands of the Indians in North America,43 and inspired too the Franciscan missionaries in Central and South America.44 Quiros was a Portuguese, born in the territory of Evoral about the year 1565, but he spent most of his life in the service of Spain. He had sailed with Mendana as pilot major on the voyage of 1595. From his youth he seems to have been caught up in the missionary enthusiasm of the age. He began to believe that he had been singled out by God as the vessel through whom the inhabitants of ‘terra australis’ would be received into the true church, and that ‘terra australis’ would be Austrialia del Espiritu Santo—a land dedicated to the Holy Spirit. In 1600 he had made his pilgrimage to Rome for inspiration; he had knelt on each step of the Santa Scala, not tormented as Luther had been in 1510, to know ‘whether it is so’. He had knelt in joy and hope in St Peter’s where he accepted the pomp and display as appropriate to the greater glory of God and his church. He had been received reverently by Clement VIII who blessed him, and conceded many graces and indulgences to all who sailed with him, and presented him with some rosaries which had received the papal blessing as well as a piece of the true cross.45

After his return to Callao he decorated the prows of his ships to symbolize the missionary purpose, placing on each a carved statue of St Peter with his feet resting on a globe. Just as Christ had named Peter the rock on which He would build His church, against which the gates of hell should not prevail, so Peter’s successor, in the mind of Quiros, would be the head of all that immense number of idolaters who, in those vast and remote provinces, were buried in the darkness of blind ignorance. For the greater glory of the same Lord he was anxious to win the race against the Protestants to the Indies and the south seas, to confound those powers of false doctrine.46 He was essentially a gentle spirit, one of God’s chosen vessels bringing the gift of his holy faith. For Quiros, all men were the adopted children of God. Yet despite the faith, despite the knowledge and the experience, he lacked the quality to excite awe and reverence from his crew, for they never saw him as their mirror, light and true guide. He was no more successful than Mendana in selecting a crew to understand, let alone share, his aspirations. As his second-in-command he appointed Luis Viez de Torres, a Portuguese, about whose life nothing is known except his part in this voyage.47

On the eve of their departure Quiros went as a pilgrim to the virgin of Loreto to pray that she would take so important a voyage under her protection. On 21 December 1605, after all had taken the sacrament and gained the jubilee promised by the Pope to those who undertook the voyage, they sailed out on to the high seas from Callao. With that abundance of good will conferred by their desire to serve God and spread the holy Catholic faith, and aggrandize the royal crown of the king their lord, all seemed easy to them—as they believed that for them the mountains would be moved, the seas made calm, and the winds hushed.48 They sailed west till they reached a harbour in the New Hebrides, which Quiros in the first flush of the excitement named Austrialia del Espiritu Santo—a name which, together with the errors in measuring longitude, created confusion for posterity when it plotted his voyage, and even seduced men of scholarship and learning to argue that he had landed on the east coast of Australia.49 But Quiros did not share this delusion: for in between the religious exercises and festivals at Austrialia del Espiritu, carried on with such fervour and extravagance that all protestant historians and secular humanists have tended to treat him with a mixture of disdain and contempt as a mountebank or as a lesson in the follies of religious fanaticism,50 Quiros was preoccupied with what to do next. With a pettiness unworthy of the cause to which he was dedicated, he began to blame earlier delays in Callao which, he argued, were robbing him of the power of following up so great an enterprise. He spoke too of the great contrary winds they would encounter if they sailed south in search of the south land, of how their present position was unknown, and how little water they had left and no meat. Then with a majestic sweep he reminded himself of his subjection to the ordinances of God, His high and secret decrees, as well as the wishes of man. Whatever it was, whether obedience to the inscrutable decrees of providence or a use of the divine commands to justify the promptings of the heart, Quiros announced in grief and sorrow that all was ended. So they sailed for home and arrived at Acapulco in Mexico on 23 November 1606 where Quiros gave part of the true cross to the priest who took it into the church and fastened it to the high altar to the ringing of bells, the sound of trumpets and the discharge of guns. All the people shouted their joy. But Quiros had hoped to go to Rome to tell the Pope that this part of the true cross had been raised in Austrialia del Espiritu Santo in honour of the Catholic Church. Fate, however, had robbed him of this triumph. So in Acapulco he gave many thanks to God through whose goodness he hoped to return the cross to the place whence it came.51 Fate cheated him of that too, though not of the glory of his ideas.

At the end of June 1607 the second-in-command, Torres, sailed from Austrialia del Espiritu Santo for Manila, proposing to call at the Moluccas on the way, and in doing so reached the east coast of New Guinea. There he found he could not weather the east point. So he coasted along to the westward on the south side, thus becoming the first European to sail along the south coast of New Guinea from the east. For before Torres, the Spaniards using the central route from Callao to the Moluccas had sailed along the north coast of New Guinea. Yet from the matter-of-fact, brief way in which Torres referred to the change it is clear that it had nothing to do with hopes of discovering new land. His mind was on other things. What he noticed was the archipelago of islands without number; he noticed too that they were inhabited by black people, very corpulent and naked, their weapons being lances, arrows and clubs of stone, which he found ill-fashioned. Further to the west he noticed a different people, a people who were better adorned, who used arrows, darts, large shields, and sticks of bamboo filled with lime, with which they blinded their enemies. When they reached the western extremity of New Guinea they found iron, Chinese bells and other things by which they knew they were near the Moluccas. They also found Mohammedans who were clothed, men who used artillery, falconets, swivel guns and arquebuses. These men, Torres reported, were conquering the people, who were called Papuas, and preaching to them the sect of Mohammed. For by 1607 Islam had reached the western end of New Guinea. So had another mighty conqueror—the Dutch.

The Moors had told Torres of Dutch ships, and added, with understandable ignorance, that none of them had come as far as New Guinea. In the previous year, however, a small Dutch ship had coasted along the south coast of New Guinea from the west in search of the same things as were interesting Torres—much gold and other good things such as pepper and nutmegs. So in 1606-7 Islam, Catholic Christendom and the Protestants had moved into the strait between New Guinea and Australia. But Torres sailed on to the Moluccas, then on to the Philippines, never once wondering about the world to the south of those islands without number, but simply tossing off the observation: ‘I doubt if in ten years could be examined the coasts of all the islands we descried.’52
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1 Pacific Voyages before Cook

The contribution of Catholic Christendom to the search for a south land was drawing to a close. Almost from the moment he returned, things began to go wrong for Quiros. The men in high places in New Spain passed him by. In Madrid, where he went for finance and support, his enemies gratified their evil passions by vilifying him. One told the council that such low and mendacious fellows ought to be of no account; another referred to him as a liar and a fraud.53 In Madrid he began a paper war, pouring out memorial after memorial, having earlier ones printed, and then, as he sank further into poverty, copying them by hand. To the end he was sustained by the same dream of a south land dedicated to the Holy Spirit; to the end he was plagued by the fear lest the sowers of false doctrine would win the race. He had his supporters among the Franciscan monks who shared his fear that the English and the Dutch heretics would sow there the most pernicious poisons of their apostasy. The officials of Madrid, however, considered Quiros not as a dreamer, a man with a vision, but as a nuisance, a pest to be humoured, to be fobbed off with those evasions, those verbal tricks with which the men in black have generally defeated in the end the man with the big idea. Only an instruction from the council in Madrid could give Quiros another chance, but the very heresy which gave Quiros his sense of desperate urgency, was diverting much of the attention, the energy and the wealth at the disposal of the officials who might have helped him. At last, on 21 October 1614, he received a certificate from the king that he was to be equipped to sail from Callao to the southern regions, but the official who drafted this letter wrote another confidential one telling the officials in New Spain to ignore the one on which Quiros was pinning his hopes and his vision.54 So Quiros died, lonely and defeated, at Panama in 1615, on his way to Callao. Years later, officials raised a monument to the man whom their spiritual ancestors had destroyed. Before he died he adopted the language of the prophets of the Old Testament to predict the future of a south land should Catholic Christendom vacate the field to the Dutch and English heretics, prophesying that they would sow false doctrine, convert all the blessings into great evils, and bring everything to ruin.55

For a season it looked as though Catholic Christendom had disquieted itself in vain, that in the search for and the use of a south land, all had been lost. For when the Europeans met under the gum-tree in February 1788 for their first ceremony in Australia, the dream of the lonely Portuguese of a land dedicated to the Holy Spirit did not sustain the mind of any of the speakers who laid bare their hearts on that day. By the end of the nineteenth century, the sons of the enlightenment, the believers in progress, the believers in material well-being for all, and the believers in universal brotherhood, were shouting to their fellow-countrymen that heaven and hell were priests’ inventions and that they should trust the brotherhood of man. To them the vision which had sustained Quiros and the faithful for a thousand years and more seemed a chimera, to sustain man in the vale of tears before the enlightenment revealed his capacity for better things.56
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THE CONTRIBUTION OF THE PROTESTANTS

THE ENGLISH and the Dutch Protestants were the bridge from the men of Trent to the men of 1789, from the intrepid soldiers of Christ to the sons of enlightenment. Where the soldiers of Christ testified to their desire to win souls for heaven and kingdoms for the princes of this world by discovering a south land, the Protestants saw themselves as restorers of the pristine purity of Christ’s Church, men chosen by God to enlarge the bounds of the Christian religion, and to benefit trade.1 They differed, however, from their Catholic predecessors in their conception of both God and man. To the Calvinist, the whole meaning of life was contained in two propositions in the Psalms: ‘Thou art God from everlasting, and world without end. Thou turnest man to destruction: again thou sayest, Come again, ye children of men.’2 For the Calvinist was obsessed with human depravity, obsessed with the reminder in the Book of Job of how abominable and filthy is man who drinketh iniquity like water.3 While the motivation of the Catholic had been a mixture of greed and religious glory, with the fear of eternal damnation taking such possession of their hearts as to make them reckless of doom and destruction in this world, the Calvinists, though equally zealous for the prize of salvation, saw greed as a force with which to lay up for themselves treasures both in heaven and earth.

The Portuguese Catholics spoke of infinite merit: the Dutch Calvinists spoke of uncommonly large profit. There was something sensuous and elemental in their discussion of the uses to which they would put the spices from the Moluccas.4 They wanted pepper for food and for a physic, ginger because it made a man go easily to the stool and restored a man’s strength that is decayed, and cloves because they strengthened the liver, the mouth and the heart, furthered digestion, procured evacuation of the urine, and being put into the eyes preserved the sight, and four drams being drunk with milk, procured lust.

The early reputation of Catholic Christendom in the Indonesian archipelago was darkened by deeds of brutality and violence and by an element of supercilious religious intolerance. The behaviour of the early Protestants was tainted by sectarian prejudice. For they too had their fear—that the minds of the people in the south seas might be poisoned by the unnatural and incredible absurdities of papistry. To them Catholic Christendom had been disgraced by what they called the moral depravity of the papists, who encouraged not only whoredom, but also the filthiness of Sodom from which the Pope, in the words of the Protestant clergyman who accompanied Drake on his voyage round the world in 1578, sucked no small advantage. Catholic Christendom had been disgraced too by the Pope’s correction of Christ’s work, that, as the same clergyman put it, the Pope and his antichristian bishops laboured with tooth and nail to deface the glory of God and to shut up in darkness the light of the gospel.5 Such dark and monstrous prejudices soon informed their principles of behaviour. When the same clergyman on Drake’s ship, the Pelican, first saw the natives of Patagonia, he was disgusted by one of their religious practices which consisted in offering backwards a loathsome sacrifice of their excrements to their god, accompanied by a motion of their bodies most loathsome to their beholders. Yet, as an illustration of the depth of his loathing for popery, he professed to prefer them to the papists in their religion.6

They were ferocious in their behaviour to each other. Whoever drew a knife in anger on a Dutch ship, in order to do bodily harm, even without injuring anybody, was nailed to the mast with a knife through his hand, and stood there until he pulled it through himself. Whoever injured anyone was keelhauled, and forfeited six months’ wages.7 They were ferocious too in their behaviour to their rivals for the spice trade; in 1623, when the Dutch captured the English garrison at Ambon, they applied the water torture to them till their entrails burst out of their noses, their mouths and their eyes. Then they applied the fire torture to the bottoms of their feet, to their elbows, to the palms of their hands, and under their arm-pits, as worthy pupils of their own doctrine of human depravity.8

They were equally ferocious in their behaviour to the Catholics. At Valparaiso in Chile in 1599, for example, the Dutch burned houses and churches, and knocked off the heads of the popish images crying, ‘Down go the gods of the Spaniards.’9 Yet, unlike the Portuguese, they were not tainted by that divinely inspired folly of squandering their material resources in pursuing Muslims; they were prepared to grant toleration to the Muslim, because holy wars were not compatible with uncommonly large profit. When the Protestant chaplains in Batavia reminded the Dutch Governor-General that the law of Moses forbade the toleration of non-Christian religions, he replied that the laws of the old Jewish republics had no force in the territory of the Dutch East India Company.10

For they had all the confidence of men of achievement. In 1596 the first Dutch trading party had arrived at Djakarta; by 1600 they had traded with Atjeh, the Moluccas, Brunei in Borneo, Banda and Ambon. By 1606 they had stumbled on the north coast of Australia. By 1644 they were able to draw in outline the coast from Cape York peninsula to the eastern end of the Great Australian Bight, the southern tip of Tasmania, and part of the west coast of both the north and south islands of New Zealand. By their contemporaries they were despised and derided as are most men to whom success comes too quickly, especially men like the Dutch who did not pause to cloak their greed with the garb of spiritual aspiration. The inhabitants of the Indies despised them as merchants: the Chinese in Djakarta ridiculed them as red haired barbarians.11

For those who were puzzled by the problem of deserts, the distribution of rewards and prizes in this world, there was perhaps a stern justice in what the Dutch discovered in Australia. For these men who asked the Lord to forgive those who compromised the profits of the Company, because they did not practise human forgiveness for such folly, found in Australia a land of flies and sand and savages.12 Of the four ways in which the Dutch contributed to the bringing of civilization to Australia—the search for islands of gold from the Indies, the use of a new sailing route to the Indies, the search for a ‘terra australis’, and teaching the Bugis seamen how to use their aids to navigation—every one of them was tinged by their insatiable covetousness.

The whole story of the Dutch contribution was contained in the scrappy accounts which have survived of the first of their seamen to sight the coast of Australia. In November 1605, the yacht Duyfken (Little Dove), Captain Willem Jansz, supercargo Jan Rosengeyn, sailed from Bantam for the discovery of the land called Nova Guinea which, the Dutch had been told, afforded great store of gold. They called at the islands of Key and Arou, then sailed along two hundred and twenty odd miles of the undiscovered south coast of New Guinea till they reached a cape to which they gave the name Cape Keerweer (Turn Again). They did not know then that this cape was not part of the island of New Guinea, but part of a land to which no civilized people had up till then given a name—that it was part of Australia. On the coast of New Guinea they had sent their men on shore to entreat of trade, and nine of their number were killed by heathen man-eaters. So, as they put it, they were constrained to return, finding no good to be done there. Although it is obscure whether these words referred to New Guinea or Cape Keerweer, they could be taken as the first cry of anguish and despair of the Dutch on seeing the land and the people of Australia.13 By an odd irony of history, news of this voyage was reported to the Dutch at Bantam by skipper Tingall, a clingman from Banda. So an Asian reported first of all on a country in which in time his people would be insulted and then excluded as a menace to higher civilization.

Over the next thirty-eight years the Dutch found little to cause them to mute that first cry of despair. In 1623 they again despatched two ships from Bantam—the Pera and the Arnhem, skippers Jan Carstens and Dirck Melisz (succeeded by Colster), to search for gold on the south coast of New Guinea. Again, like the Duyfken, they ran on to Cape York peninsula, and followed its west coast to the mouth of a river in latitude 17’ 8” S. which they called Staten River. There they landed, and fastened a wooden column to a tree with these words carved on it:14

Anno 1623 24 April sijn hier aen gecomen twee jachten wegen de Hooge Mogende Heeren Staten Gen.

Again they were disenchanted by the land and its people. They were seeking a land which would afford great store of gold, and a people with whom to trade. They found a land without a single fruit-bearing tree or anything that could be eaten by man, and a people who were in general barbarians, who had no knowledge at all of gold, silver, tin, iron, lead, or copper, and even less of nutmegs, cloves and pepper. When the Dutch showed them all these things many times they showed neither enthusiasm nor disdain. Carstens concluded that they were a poor and miserable people, who appeared to value most coral and iron. So Carstens decided there was nothing in particular to be got there—just as the men on the Duyfken found there was no good to be done there.15 Perhaps Quiros had disquieted himself in vain with that nightmare about the work that the sowers of false doctrine might perform in a south land.

It was the same with the Dutch discovery of the west coast. As early as 1611 Captain Brouwer had tried a new route from the Cape of Good Hope to Djakarta. To use the trade winds he sailed due east from Cape Town for four thousand miles and then turned north. In October 1616 the ship Eendracht (Concord), skipper Dirk Hartog, using this route, ran on to the west coast of Australia in latitude 26° south, which the Dutch later called Eendrachtsland or Land van de Eendracht, then sailed north along the coast to 22° south latitude at Willem’s River, and then on to Macassar where they almost certainly discussed what they had seen with the Bugis. But the records which have survived are tantalizingly brief on Eendrachtsland, merely stating they had come upon various islands which were, however, found to be uninhabited. On the conversations at Macassar history is silent, and after this journey Hartog sank again into anonymity till 1697 when the plate he had erected was discovered by Willem de Vlamingh.16

On 4 August 1616 the directors of the East India Company in Amsterdam instructed their captains to follow the route recommended by Captain Brouwer, and on 15 August 1617 the directors issued sailing instructions which prescribed the route to be followed by all Dutch ships sailing to the East Indies. In following this route a number of Dutch ships touched the west coast between Cape Leeuwin in the south and Willem’s River in the north. One ship, t’Gulden Seepaart (the Golden Seahorse), skipper F. Thijssen or Thijszoon, was blown so far out of its course, early in 1627, that it missed Cape Leeuwin and sailed east as far as the islands of St Francis and St Peter at the eastern extremity of the Great Australian Bight, but the only memorial which survived of this achievement was a line on a map. Again the imagination of the historian may rove over the minds of those men doing their business in deep water, who believed that though the waves of the sea raged horribly yet the Lord which dwelt on high was mightier, who boasted in their national songs of their strength to destroy the princes of this world.17 In such brief comments as have survived from the skippers who saw the land and its people, the note of disenchantment, the note of despair, predominated. When they came to sum up their impressions after t’Gulden Seepaart had discovered the south coast of the country which they had begun to call the great Southland, they wrote with a note of disappointment of how none of these discoveries had resulted in the obtaining of any considerable information respecting the situation and condition of this vast land. It was a land of barren and dangerous coasts and exceedingly savage, black, barbarian inhabitants.18

The one Dutch skipper who had a more intimate knowledge of the west coast had provided the detail for such a despondent generalization. After his ship, the Batavia, was wrecked on the Abrolhos reef in June 1629, Francois Pelsaert set out for Djakarta in a long boat with a small crew to obtain help, a voyage which took him along part of the west coast of the Southland. They were appalled by what they saw: they found no traces of running water; the higher ground was barren and unpromising, without trees, shrubs or grass, but with plenty of high ant hills in all directions; there were multitudes of flies which crept into their mouths and into their eyes; and the inhabitants ran off in terror on seeing the white man. The prospect did not please, and man seemed praeternaturally vile. Yet, despite it all, Pelsaert still wanted to know more about this vast land. So he sent two delinquents ashore—Wouter Loos and Jan Pelzroende—knowing that if they were picked up, their punishment would ultimately redound to the service of the Company, as they would give trustworthy information about those parts. For not even the flies, the barrenness, the dryness, the desolation, could shake the hope for better things. While the Dutch continued to entertain such expectations, their eye had already detected one singular thing about this land—its animals. Of these none was more singular than the kangaroo which carried and nourished its young in a pouch: here, at last, was something perfectly proportioned in the great Southland.19

So the Southland they knew was barren, while the land some of their merchants believed they would discover in the great south sea where their ships would obtain rich cargoes, eluded those who searched for it. These searches were of two kinds. On the one hand there was the private expedition from Amsterdam, such as the expedition of Le Maire and Schouten in 1614, which sailed round the Horn planning to look for a Southland, but winds, currents, and the great swell of the ocean soon persuaded them to leave the seas of danger and uncertain profit, and to sail for Java where they believed they would certainly trade with profit. So they discovered no Southland. Yet, in a sense, the experiences of this voyage had more lasting effects than the profits and losses of its promoters. As Calvinists they looked on all human beings as being stained by the original sin of their common ancestors. Yet in some of the islands of the Pacific, in the Hoorn Islands for example, they observed a people who appeared to have escaped the punishment of Adam, men who did not earn their daily bread in the sweat of their brows, women who did not bring forth their children in sorrow, a people indeed living a life free of care, who neither sowed nor mowed nor performed any kind of work as the earth gave them all they needed to support life. They noted, too, the terror stirred up in the natives by the presence of the white man—the natives being in constant fear lest the white men kill them and take their land.20 Thus these Dutch Calvinists foreshadowed the mind of the European when plagued by doubt, and in so doing made the first scratch on the page which was to record some of the big themes of the European in the islands of the Pacific.

It was more fruitful to search for a Southland from their possessions in the Indonesian archipelago. From 1622 onwards all skippers on voyages of discovery from their Kasteel in Djakarta were given instructions which reproduced the mixture of motives, muddles and puzzles in their own minds. They were still chasing the elusive islands of gold and spices; they wanted more accurate information about the Southland than their sailors had yet discovered in order to avoid shipwrecks; they believed their sailors might still discover the Southland of the geographers—i.e. the ‘terra australis incognita’. Meanwhile they were puzzled by the extent of the Southland that their seamen had discovered. How vast was it? Was it part of the ‘terra australis’ of the geographers? So, on 29 September 1622, the Governor-General of the Indies, Jan Pieterszoon Coen, issued orders to equip two yachts, the Haring and the Hazewind, to undertake a voyage and to discover as much of these lands as God Almighty would be pleased to allow.21 But man, not God, delayed their departure, for the Dutch had more urgent business at hand. There were wars of conquest, wars against the Muslim merchants, wars against the Portuguese and against the English, which so taxed their time and their resources that the council in Batavia could spare neither yachts nor crews for another voyage of discovery.22

In 1642, when the way at last seemed clear, three documents were composed in Batavia on discovery in the south seas. The first was written by Franchoys Jacobsen Visscher—‘Memoir touching the discovery of the Southland’—in which he urged that an expedition should be sent to plot the coast of the Southland from False Cape to Willem’s River. Visscher believed as Carstens had believed that False Cape was part of the south coast of New Guinea.23 The second document was a resolution of the council in Batavia of I August 1642 in which they announced their intention to send an expedition for the discovery of the supposed rich southern and eastern lands, by which they meant both searching for a ‘terra australis’ as well as clearing up their knowledge of the known Southland.24 The third document was the instructions to the commander, as they put it, destined for the discovery and exploration of the unknown and known Southland, of the south-east coast of New Guinea, and the islands circumjacent.25 This was a document on a grand scale. It began by reminding the commander how the invaluable treasures, profitable trade connections, useful trades, excellent territories, vast powers and dominions had enriched the kingdoms 2nd crowns of Spain and Portugal as well as the numberless multitudes of blind heathen who had been introduced to the blessed light of the Christian religion. Then in language befitting both their achievements and their greed, it stated in measured periods their expectations from discovery in the south seas in a rehash of the ideas which were a commonplace of Dutch thinking at the time on the old ‘terra australis’ theme, after which the instructions slid over to the value of exploring the Southland known to their seamen, before concluding with the possibility of finding a short route from the Indies to Chile. For whenever ‘terra australis’ or the Southland was mentioned, the possibility of plundering the wealth of Spain in South America was never far from their minds.26 So the commander was instructed to discover the unknown Southland, to explore the known Southland, and to discover a short route from Java to Chile.

Such instructions reflected the confusions in Dutch minds arising from what they knew and from what the old idea of ‘terra australis’ had taught them to expect. The detailed instructions to the commander sought the impossible: namely, how to achieve all three of these aims. When their author faced up to the problem of how a commander could both explore the known Southland, and at the same time discover a ‘terra australis’, he realized that it would be necessary to follow two quite different routes. Accordingly, instructions for two such routes were outlined: one was for the search for ‘terra australis’: the other was for the exploration of the coast of the known Southland. So the commander was instructed to do one of two things: either to sail to Mauritius, then south to latitude fifty-two or fifty-four in search of ‘terra australis’, then east to the longitude of New Guinea, again in search of ‘terra australis’, and then north. If he had followed this route he might have discovered Heard Island, but little else. By the second route, when sailing east in fifty-two to fifty-four degrees of south latitude, at the longitude of the islands of St Peter and St Francis, he could steer north to the south coast of the known Southland in the sight of these islands, and then follow the coast eastward to ascertain how far it extended, and whether the discovered Southland joined New Guinea near Cape Keerweer, or whether it was separated from it by channels or passages. In which case, the instructions concluded, by passing through one of the channels and continuing as far as Willem’s River, the north coast might be conveniently explored sailing westward.27 Again, as with Magellan, a tremendous ‘if’ leaps to the mind; if the commander had followed this route, if the Dutch had seen the east coast, would they have concluded there was no good to be done there? What if the commander had discovered the passage between New Guinea and False Cape? But such was not to be, partly because the instructions cautioned the commander against this route, warning him that winds and currents were unfavourable to it. So these chance words possibly cheated the commander of such glory, and chance and circumstance combined to strengthen their first cry of anguish and despair of achievement in such a vast land.28

As commander, the Council in Batavia chose Abel Janszoon Tasman. Of the man himself little is known. He was born at Lutjegast in the province of Groningen, in Holland, about 1603, went to Java in 1633, became a skipper in 1634 in the service of the Dutch East India Company, returned to Holland in 1636, was back in Batavia by 1638, and in 1639 was appointed second-in-command of a Dutch expedition to Japan. There was, it seems, a dark side to his character, for the man was driven by some flaw in his make-up to take pleasure in tormenting those under his command. It is known that like his fellow-skippers he had succumbed to the temptation of pocketing the proceeds from sales of company cargoes. But the Council in Batavia was willing to forgive such peccadilloes in men of ability, while reserving the full wrath of their Calvinist Jehovah for those who by their negligence or incompetence cheated the Company of its expectations. They were expecting much from this voyage—and it may be that a man driven as Tasman was by the desire to hurt, could not fulfil such expectations; it may be that he was pitifully ill-equipped by nature to understand the vision which sustained the Council at Batavia. From the little that is known, the eye of pity looks on Tasman as one commanded to perform tasks beyond the reach and scope of the powers of any mortal, let alone a man divided as he was. For he had not been endowed by nature with either the imagination or the singlemindedness that his instructions demanded. The Council in Batavia was singularly narrow in its conception of success and singularly lacking in pity or breadth of understanding for those who failed. They were looking for the great profits.

As pilot-major, or steersman-major, they chose Franchoys Jacobsen Visscher, a man with the power and prestige to influence Tasman on that fateful question of the course to follow. He was born at Husking in Holland, and left for the Indies in 1623 where he served the Dutch East India Company.29 For ships they had the Heemskerk, a small war yacht, and the Zeehaen, a smaller flute, with sixty of the ablest-bodied seafaring men to be found in Batavia on the Heemskerk and fifty of them on the Zeehaen. They were victualled for eighteen months, two days a week to be meat days, one a bacon day, with a ration of spirits to be served in moderation for the sake of their health. Also, both ships carried supplies of merchandise—such as coloured cloth, blankets, linen, small Chinese mirrors, pepper, elephants’ teeth, sandalwood, Chinese wooden combs—for the Council in Batavia wanted to allow for every sort of trade, to allow even for all sorts of people, while hoping they would not be those exceedingly savage, black barbarian inhabitants of the Southland.30

They sailed from Batavia on 14 August 1642 with Tasman’s mind for a moment on higher things: ‘May God Almighty’, he wrote in his journal, ‘vouchsafe His blessing on this work.’31 They sighted Mauritius on 5 September and dropped anchor the following day to repair their ships, to gather stores of wood and food, and to take on water. On 8 October they weighed anchor, and sailed out on to the high seas to the south eastwards to begin the search for the unknown Southland. By 6 November they had reached 49° 4’ south latitude without sighting land, though the rock weed and manna grass floating past the ship had roused their expectations. As the seas were running very high, and the sailors were suffering very badly from the hail and snow which lashed the ships, Tasman asked Visscher to advise him. Visscher, by one of those choices which baffle posterity, counselled him to pursue neither of the two routes defined in the instructions, but to blend them. He advised Tasman to return to latitude 44° south and then sail east till they reached the longitude of the Solomons, where they should turn north, as they would then be in an open sea again, unless, as he added cautiously, they met with islands, all of which time and experience, being the best of teachers, would no doubt bring to light.32 Whereupon Tasman decided to alter course accordingly. On 17 November he made two observations: that though they saw rock weed every day, it was not likely there was any great mainland to the south, on account of the high seas still running from that quarter. He also estimated that they had already passed the Southland known up to the present, or so far as Pieter Nuyts had run to eastward.33 But Tasman, reticent as ever, did not mention that here was the chance to move on to course two—the course which would have made him the discoverer of the south and east coasts of Australia. His mind was clearly on the discovery of the unknown Southland—on 22 November, for example, he again noted the unlikelihood of land to the south owing to the heavy swell coming from that direction.
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So it must have been a surprise on 24 November 1642 when they sighted land, though Tasman’s words describing the event betrayed no emotion;—‘In the afternoon’, he wrote in his journal, ‘about 4 o’clock, we saw land bearing east by north of us, at about 10 miles’ distance from us by estimation; the land we sighted was very high . . .’ That evening there was a council on the Heemskerk, but again, he does not say whether there was excitement and pleasure in their hearts and minds or if they speculated whether this was part of the known or part of the unknown Southland. On 25 November there was another council of the officers from both ships on the Heemskerk, at which they decided on a name, but skirted the problem of what they had found:

 

   This land being the first land we have met with in the South Sea, and not known to any European nation, we have conferred on it the name of Anthoony van Diemenslandt, in honour of the Hon. Governor-General, our illustrious master, who sent us to make this discovery; the islands circumjacent, so far as known to us, we have named after the Hon. Councillors of India, as may be seen from the little chart which has been made of them.34

 

For seven days they sailed slowly, cautiously, round the coast; then, on the evening of 1 December they dropped anchor in a good harbour with white and grey fine sand, and a naturally drying bottom—for all which it behoved them, they believed, to thank God Almighty with grateful hearts.35 They were then at Cape Frederick Henry Bay. It was 1 December 1642, almost the end of a decisive year in the history of the Protestant religion and of the parliamentary system of government in England, while in south-east Asia the Dutch had founded a trading station at Palembang in Sumatra, and the English and the French had extended their dominion over Hindu and Muslim in India.

They landed three times. On 2 December Tasman sent Visscher in command of a pinnace into North Bay with four musketeers and six rowers, together with the cock boat from the Zeehaen with a second mate and six musketeers. They found high but level land, covered with vegetation which, to their surprise, was not cultivated but growing naturally by the will of God, excellent timber, and a gently sloping water course in a barren valley. But of man there was not a sight, only indirect evidence of his presence, certain human sounds, and sounds resembling the music of a trump or small gong. The trees, sixty to sixty-five feet high, bore notches made with flint instruments, notches fully five feet apart, so they concluded that the natives must be of very tall stature. On the ground they observed footprints not unlike those of tigers’ claws, and excrements from quadrupeds which they brought back to the ships. They also saw smoke from fires which, for some reason which Tasman never explained, again convinced them there must be men here of extraordinary stature. On 3 December they landed on the south-east shore of Cape Frederick Henry with supercargo Gilsemans and a number of musketeers, but they were again disappointed with the water they obtained. That afternoon Tasman, Visscher, skipper Gerrit Jansz, Isack Gilsemans, sub-cargo Abraham Coomans and the master carpenter, Pieter Jacobsz, returned to the south-east shore of the bay.36 They carried with them a pole with the company’s mark carved into it, and a prince-flag which was to be set up that those who came after them might become aware that they had been there, and had taken possession of the said land as their lawful possession.37 When the wind began to blow stiffly, the cock boat was obliged to return to the Zeehaen, while further inshore the surf ran so high that Tasman ordered the carpenter to swim ashore with the flag, which he planted near four tall trees. Yet from that day to the present only the blue gums, the she-oaks, the stringy barks, the bell heather, tea-tree, and sword-grass have witnessed the site. For here was no source of the wealth for which they had endured the hardships of the mighty deep, not even a people with whom they could establish profitable connections.

Later that day Tasman wrote again with dignity though not with excitement of planting the flag as a memorial for those who came after them, and for the natives of this country. He did not speculate on what they had discovered, on whether it was part of the known or part of the unknown Southland. Nor did he attempt to explore it. Indeed, the place made such a slight impression on his mind that he begged to be excused from writing a detailed description for what he called briefness’ sake.38 On 4 December he decided to weigh anchor to look for a better watering place. Next day, when the wind made it difficult for the two ships to follow the coast, Tasman convened a council at which it was decided to keep to their earlier decision to sail east till they reached the longitude of the Solomons, as though nothing of significance had happened. Indeed, so little notice was taken of this discovery that it was not for another one hundred and thirty years that a European again visited Van Diemen’s Land, and then, Marion du Fresne anchored in 1772 within a mile of where the Heemskerk and the Zeehaen had cast anchor in December 1642. So ended the first visit of the Europeans to Tasmania, without disaster to the land or its people, without a hint of any desire to return.

On 5 December 1642 Tasman and Visscher sailed east, still searching for an unknown Southland, but found no signs of it; the heavy swells still continuing from the south-west convinced them there was no mainland to the southward. They sighted land again on 13 December—Tasman giving their position as latitude 42° 10’ S., longitude 188° 28’.39 This time they celebrated the event by firing a gun and hoisting a white flag. They sailed north along the coast, looking for a suitable watering place and believed they had found one, but in a fight with the natives four of Tasman’s men were murdered. So Tasman, timid as ever, sailed away without exploring the situation. He branded it a detestable deed, and one which taught him to consider the inhabitants of the country as enemies.40 They decided to look for a watering-place further east along the coast, to call the bay Moordenaersbay or Murderers Bay, to call the country Staten Landt and to call the sea between Van Diemen’s Land and Staten Landt the Tasman Sea. In this way Tasman scratched his name in the history of the coming of Europeans to Australia.

After sailing along the west coast of the north island of New Zealand, Tasman and Visscher sailed north for the Solomons, calling at the Friendly Islands where they at long last began to trade, exchanging nails for coconuts—as if to mock the Company’s hopes of great profits from the voyage. That was on the island on which Tasman, without sarcasm or malice, conferred the name of Amsterdam. A few days later, on a neighbouring island which he honoured with the name of Rotterdam, he was noting the superstitions of the inhabitants—how, for example, religious scruples deterred them from killing flies, though, as Tasman put it, they caused trouble enough.41 On their way to the Solomons they also discovered the Fiji Islands and called at the Hoorn Islands. Tasman not only failed but never even attempted to find an answer to one of the questions put to him by the Council at Batavia, whether there was a passage between New Guinea and False Cape. Again Tasman played safe and sailed along the north coast to Ceram and Batavia, where they arrived on 14 June 1643, after a voyage of ten months, whereupon Tasman, in a rare comment, wrote in his diary: ‘God be praised and thanked for this happy voyage.’42

But the Council at Batavia was not impressed. For them Tasman was a man who had been on the high seas for ten months without finding gold, spices, trade connections or a short route to Chile, a man who had not explored the coast of the known Southland, who had not charted its dangerous west coast, a man who had not discovered the unknown Southland. So Tasman must try again. With all the testiness of men cheated of a rich prize by human frailty, with that arrogance and insolence of men who had threatened woe to those who endangered their profits, they again set him an impossible task. He was to answer all the questions raised by the Dutch voyages in the south seas from the Duyfken in 1606 to the Heemskerk and the Zeebaen in 1642-3. Did New Guinea join the Southland? Did Van Diemen’s Land form a connected whole with these two great countries, or with either of them? What unknown islands were situated between New Guinea and the unknown Southland? In addition, he was to try to obtain ampler information concerning the nature and situation of all the known and unknown lands referred to; he was to seek a convenient place for obtaining water and refreshments for ships bound to the Indies from the Netherlands. As they realized, if Tasman had followed out these instructions then the whole of the known Southland would have been circumnavigated, and it would have been found to be the largest island of the world. So the Council wanted a great deal: and they wanted it in a hurry, for, as they put it in the concluding section of the instructions, it was of the highest importance that the commander should discover a great deal in the shortest compass of time.43

Yet the man from whom so much was expected was the one to whom all too little had been given. Tasman as commander, with Dirk Cornlisz Haen as second-in-command, was equipped with three ships, the yachts Limmen and Zeemeeuw, together with a small fishing boat the Bracq. They were manned with one hundred and eleven men all told, and a collection of elephants’ teeth, mirrors, tortoise shell, porcelain, needles, knives, spices, pearls, ebony, gold, silver, and nails to be used for trade. Tasman’s journal, presuming he kept one, has been lost, and the only surviving account is a letter addressed rather fulsomely on 23 December 1644 to the noble, worshipful, wise, provident and very discreet gentlemen in Amsterdam by the Council in Batavia.44 Tasman had sailed from Batavia on 29 January 1644 for Ambon, Banda and False Cape, where, for reasons which the Council later felt reflected his lack of resolution, he did not clear up the mystery of its connection or otherwise with New Guinea, but decided instead to follow and chart the coast of the Southland from Cape York to Willem’s River, where he decided to return to Batavia. He reached Batavia on 10 August 1644, the whole voyage taking six and a half months, another example of his caution or prudence, for they had been victualled for eight months.

The Council in Batavia was bitterly disappointed. Tasman had not found an answer to any one of the questions put to him: to the connection between New Guinea and the Southland, or between the Southland and Van Diemen’s Land. Tasman, they regretted, had only confirmed the gloomy accounts of their seamen about the land and its people, a land where man could not make profit by barter, where the people were naked, beach-roving wretches, destitute of rice, and not possessing any fruits worth mentioning, an excessively poor people, and of a very malignant nature. So in their despair and desolation, like the prophets of the Old Testament, they sought comfort in prophecy: ‘What there is in this Southland,’ they wrote, ‘whether above or under the earth continues unknown, since the men have done nothing beyond sailing along the coast; he who makes it his business to find out what the land produces must walk over it.’ But fate was not reserving the glory of this discovery for the Dutch.

The hope of the Council at Batavia, however, had not been entirely snuffed out by the Tasman voyages and the reports of his predecessors. They continued to entertain a Micawberish belief that something would turn up, as it could hardly be supposed that no profit of any kind should be obtainable in so vast a country. If it did not turn up in the Southland, they hoped God would grant that in the one or the other part of the world some prolific silver or gold mine would be hit upon, to the solace of the general shareholders and the signal honour of the first discoverer. Their faith in God’s bounty was greater than their faith in Tasman, for they then slipped in the rebuke that such a search should be conducted by more vigilant and courageous persons than had hitherto been employed on this service.45 On this note of spite the Council in Batavia summed up their attitude to Tasman, the man who had made the greatest voyage since Magellan, though ordered to perform tasks beyond his reach and capacity. The historian lingers over the ingratitude of men driven by greed, and the deserts of a man not endowed by nature with the power to satisfy his masters’ appetite for uncommonly large profit. Within a few months of his return, however, the Council was writing more generously of Tasman as the man who had been endowed with the courage required to do additional good service to the company by seeking rich lands or forming profitable trade-connections.46

So the Council did not despair. There were other places where man was vile, but other prospects pleased. There was trade with China, there was that story about an island of gold near Formosa, there was the opportunity to capture booty in the West Indies, there were prospects in Chile where the way had been prepared by the Lord-General Brouwer, now, as they put it with their accustomed confidence in things spiritual as well as things temporal, with God.47 As for the Southland, it still had its uses as a landmark for their seamen on the route from the Cape of Good Hope to Batavia. So even as late as 1696-7 Willem de Vlamingh, to aid such navigation, charted the coast from south of the entrance to Swan River to Willem’s River, finding it as all his predecessors had done, an arid, barren and wild land.48 Their other enterprises remained much more profitable than the sand, the flies, and the savages in the Southland. When Cook arrived in Batavia in October 1770, the Council was troubled by his ill behaviour, but not by his accounts of the Southland.49 On the day the Dutch press announced the departure of the first fleet for Botany Bay at the end of May 1787, they did not indulge in any wistful reminiscing, any sentimental recreation of those days when their men of vision, the Brouwers, the Coens, and the van Diemens, dreamed of a Southland from which there would be satisfactory returns; for on that day La Gazette de Leyden told their readers that nothing of great interest for public curiosity had occurred except that twelve ships had sailed from Portsmouth for New Holland. Their great interest was in the reports of the cargoes of pepper from Batavia.50

These Dutch seamen, these councillors at Batavia, the high and mighty in Amsterdam, the cartographers, the scribblers, and the men who conceived the ideas in the instructions to Tasman, contributed something more to the coming of European civilization to Australia than the charting of the coast from Cape York peninsula to the islands of St Francis and St Peter, something more than the honour of being the discoverers of the north, west and south coasts and Van Diemen’s Land, let alone their claim to it as their property.51 The Dutch so completed the decline in the material power of the states of Indonesia that no state in the archipelago could resist the coming of European civilization to Australia, let alone spread its own civilization to such a vast land. Above all the Dutch halted the spread of Islam in the area at a time when Muslim merchants had approached as close to Australia as the west coast of New Guinea. Their deeds of conquest and economic exploitation so stained their name and that of their civilization in the minds of the people they forced to do their will, that even Dutch writers foretold of a day when the blood of the poor people would seek revenge against such criminal and murderous behaviour.52 Yet by not forcing the followers of Islam to embrace Christianity they gained temporary respites from religious strife at the expense of allowing the survival of a religion which, when united with an implacable hatred of the Dutch, provided the two bonds of unity working for their ignominious expulsion. But all this was still in the womb of time when the men of the Duyfken, the Eendracht, the Pera, the Arnhem, the Haring and the Hazewind, t’Gulden Seepaart, the Zeehaen and the Heemskerk, the Limmen, the Zeemeeuw and the Bracq, explored the wonders of the mighty deep off the coasts of the Southland, believing, as good Calvinists, that the hearts of the sons of men were filled with evil and madness while they lived, believing too, as the psalmist reminded them, that the earth was the Lord’s and the fullness thereof, but never doubting, never questioning their right to its fruits. As men who were driven to discover a Southland which would swell their coffers, but who, to their unquenchable anguish and despair found instead an arid, barren and wild land peopled by exceedingly savage, black barbarian inhabitants, they missed that other discovery in the Southland, the anguish of men who walked over it first as strangers and intruders and then with the passionate attachment of men who knew it as their native land. For when the Europeans gathered for the ceremony under the gum-tree in February 1788, if any of the exceedingly savage black barbarian inhabitants had been able to recognize the anthem which concluded that ceremony, they would have heard some quiet requests to God for the preservation of a king, and not of those elemental passions which had sustained the Dutch, who gushed out their glory and their guilt in their national songs.

The Dutch also probably taught one of the sea-faring people in the Indonesian archipelago how to make regular expeditions to the north coast of the Southland for trepang. They were the Bugis seamen from Macassar. Travellers described them as the modern Phoenicians of the archipelago.53 Flinders found them at the north-western entrance to the Gulf of Carpentaria in February 1803. He described them as Mohammedans with prows from Macassar, who expressed great horror to see hogs but had no objection to port wine, and who had come to get trepang to carry to Timor for sale to the Chinese who met them there.54 From his talks with the leader of the expedition, Pobasoo, Flinders estimated that these expeditions had begun in the 1780s.55 Some, however, put the date much earlier, though those who wrote of them did so in such a way as not to commend themselves to those anxious to distinguish between fact and fancy. According to Dalrymple, for example, writing in 1769, the Bugis described New Holland as a gold-yielding country where the natives were Mohammedans and well inclined to commerce.56 All observers agreed that the Bugis began these voyages after the Dutch had taught them how to use their navigation instruments and charts.57 What has survived of their own account of their history in the palm leaf manuscript confirms this impression, but their name for the Southland—Marege, from Pamarege, a trepang fisher—and their name for its inhabitants—the Maregeka, a people engaged in trepang fishing—throw no light on the date of such contact.58 Nor does the work of the anthropologist throw fresh light on the date.59 One can hazard the guess that the trepang beds at Macassar and the neighbouring islands were exhausted shortly after the Dutch established a tenuous authority there.

The contribution of these Bugis seamen to the history of civilization in Australia was not negligible. They influenced the art, the social organization, the religion, and above all, the idea of the past created by the aborigine on the north coast, planting in his mind the idea of a golden age for his people before the coming of the white man.60 Their very presence created in the minds of some Europeans the idea that the Bugis seamen might be the medium of contact if not of reconciliation and understanding between the European and the Asian, at a time when the European was free from the taint of racial insolence and arrogance, for at the same time officialdom was toying with the idea of importing women from China or from the islands as wives for the convicts.61 So in a sense, by one of those odd sequences of events, the Dutch Calvinists became the medium or the cause of raising for the first time a theme of deeper import for the history of European civilization in Australia than that theme of despair about the land and its people which was the immediate legacy of the work of their seamen.

By the middle of the seventeenth century the Dutch had written the very first page in the history of European civilization in Australia by stating that there was no good to be done there. William Dampier popularized this idea amongst the English reading public half a century later. Dampier, who was born in England in 1652, was a widely travelled man on the eve of his first voyage to New Holland in 1688. He had known Java as a youth of twenty, had buccaneered in the Caribbean in the 1670s, and had seen there the altars of gold raised to the greater glory of God and the degradation of the negro slaves on the sugar plantations. He was a man who believed he had seen the alpha and the omega of human achievement until he saw the land and the people of New Holland. ‘Look at the face of old Dampier,’ Coleridge said about his portrait, ‘a rough sailor, but a man of exquisite mind. How soft is the air of his countenance, how delicate the shape of his temples.’62 He had a mind which was quick to take over other people’s ideas, a mind which delighted to play with big ideas, the broad sweeps in human history, the view of man of those who have been taken up into high mountains, but he lacked the strength to examine them closely, as he was cursed with the tendency to drift of the man of imagination. When the Cygnet arrived at Mindanao in the Philippines in 1686, Dampier browsed over the whole question of British trade in the Pacific, saw the possibility of using New Holland as a watering place for ships engaged in such trade, and saw too the possibility of reaching New Holland from Cape Horn; after rounding Tierra del Fuego, instead of following the northern route, a ship might stretch over towards New Holland. This idea might have enabled him to anticipate Cook.63 But not in 1687, for Dampier sailed instead for Timor, and from there to the north-west coast of New Holland, arriving at the Buccaneer’s Archipelago on 4 January 1688.

He found New Holland a very large tract of land, with a dry sandy soil, which was destitute of water. He saw no trees that bore fruit or berries. He saw no animals except one with the track of a beast as big as a great mastiff dog. He saw a few small land birds, and a few sea fowls—nor was the sea very plentifully stored with fish.64 As for the aborigines they were the miserablest people in the world.

 

   The Hodmadods of Monomatapa, though a nasty People, yet for Wealth are Gentlemen to these; who have no Houses and Skin Garments, Sheep, Poultry, and Fruits of the Earth, Ostrich Eggs, &c. as the Hodmadods have: and setting aside their humane shape, they differ but little from Brutes. They are tall, strait bodied, and thin, with small long Limbs. They have great Heads, round Foreheads, and great Brows. Their Eye-lids are always half closed, to keep the Flies out of their Eyes: they being so troublesome here, that no fanning will keep them from coming to ones Face; and without the assistance of both hands to keep them off, they will creep into ones Nostrils; and Mouth too, if the Lips are not shut very close. So that from their Infancy being thus annoyed with these Insects, they do never open their Eyes, as other People: and therefore they cannot see far; unless they hold up their Heads, as if they were looking at somewhat over them.

   They have great Bottle noses, pretty full lips, and wide mouths. The two fore-teeth of their upper Jaw are wanting in all of them, men and women, old and young: whether they draw them out, I know not: Neither have they any Beards. They are long visaged, and of a very unpleasing aspect; having no one graceful feature in their faces. Their Hair is black, short and curl’d, like that of the Negroes: and not long and lank like the common Indians. The colour of their skins, both of their faces and the rest of their body, is coal black, like that of the Negroes of Guinea.

   They have no sort of Cloaths; but a piece of the rind of a Tree ty’d like a Girdle about their wastes, and a handful of long Grass, or 2 or 4 small green Boughs, full of Leaves, thrust under their Girdle, to cover their nakedness.

   They have no Houses, but lye in the open Air, without any covering; the Earth being their Bed, and the Heaven their Canopy. Whether they cohabit one Man to one Woman, or promiscuously, I know not: but they do live in Companies, 20 or 30 Men, Women, and Children together. Their only food is a small sort of Fish, which they get by making Wares of stone, across little Coves, or branches of the Sea: every Tide bringing in the small Fish, and there leaving them for a prey to these people, who constantly attend there, to search for them at low water. This small Fry I take to be the top of their Fishery: they have no Instruments to catch great Fish should they come; and such seldom stay to be left behind at low water: nor could we catch any Fish with our Hooks and Lines all the while we lay there. In other places at low water they seek for Cockles, Muscles, and Periwincles: Of these Shell-fish there are fewer still; so that their chiefest dependance is upon what the Sea leaves in their Wares; which, be it much or little, they gather up, and march to the place of their abode. There the old People, that are not able to stir abroad, by reason of their Age, and the tender Infants, wait their return; and what Providence has bestowed on them, they presently broil on the Coals, and eat it in common. Sometimes they get as many Fish as makes them a plentiful Banquet; and at other times they scarce get every one a taste: but be it little or much that they get, every one has his part, as well the young and tender, as the old and feeble, who are not able to go abroad, as the strong and lusty. When they have eaten they lye down till the next low water, and then all that are able march out, be it night or day, rain or shine, ’tis all one: they must attend the Wares, or else they must fast: For the Earth affords them no Food at all. There is neither Herb, Root, Pulse, nor any sort of Grain, for them to eat, that we saw: nor any sort of Bird, or Beast that they can catch, having no Instruments wherewithal to do so.

   I did not perceive that they did worship anything. These poor Creatures have a sort of Weapon to defend their Ware, or fight with their Enemies, if they have any that will interfere with their poor Fishery. They did at first endeavour with their Weapons to frighten us, who lying ashore deterr’d them from one of their Fishing-places. Some of them had wooden Swords, others had a sort of Lances. The Sword is a piece of Wood, shaped somewhat like a Cutlass. The Lance is a long strait pole, sharp at one end, and hardened afterwards by heat. I saw no Iron, nor any other sort of metal; therefore it is probable they use Stone-Hatchets, as some Indians in America do, described in Chap. IV.

   How they get their Fire, I know not: but, probably, as Indians do, out of Wood. I have seen the Indians of Bon-Airy do it, and have myself tryed the experiment: They take a flat piece of Wood, that is pretty soft, and made a small dent in one side of it, then they take another hard round stick, about the bigness of ones little finger, and sharpening it at one end like a Pencil, they put that sharp end in the hole or dent of the flat soft piece, and then rubbing or twirling the hard piece between the palms of their hands, they drill the soft piece till it smoaks, and at last takes fire.

   These people speak somewhat thro the throat; but we could not understand one word that they said. We anchored, as I said before, January the 5th, and seeing Men walking on the shore, we presently sent a Canoa to get some acquaintance with them: for we were in hopes to get some Provision among them. But the Inhabitants, seeing our Boat coming, run away and hid themselves. We searched afterwards 3 days in hopes to find their Houses; but found none: yet we saw many places where they had made Fires. At last, being out of hopes to find their Habitations, we searched no farther: but left a great many toys ashore; in such places where we thought that they would come. In all our search we found no water, but old Wells on the sandy Bays.65

Thus the first detailed description of the aborigine was written by a man who was not driven to distribute praise or blame, and who did not see the aborigines as special dispensations of the Fall, or as a people who had escaped the consequences of original sin, or as a people who through lack of animals to domesticate and suitable grasses had not progressed from barbarism to civilization. Dampier, too, had his faith—the plain man’s faith that somewhere in that very large tract of land there must be something more than flies, sand, and the miserablest people in the world. He returned again in 1699, hoping to approach the east coast from Cape Horn, but a late departure from England forced him to use the Cape of Good Hope. So he ended again on the west coast, amongst the sand, the flies, and the miserablest people in the world, which, as he put it, gave him little encouragement to search further. On his return to London he popularized three views in his books on his travels: disgust with the aborigine; disgust with the land; the hope of better things somewhere in its very vastness, with the corollary that it might serve the interests of English trade.66 The word trade, and the absence of all reference to religious motives or sectarian prejudices, indicates that Dampier belonged to a different world, a world in transition from the Protestants to the sons of enlightenment.
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THE SONS OF ENLIGHTENMENT

BY THE LAST quarter of the seventeenth century the helio-centric theory of the universe had begun to influence thinking about the meaning of life. To contemporary observers, the effect was obvious: the influence which Christianity in particular and religion in general had exercised over man’s minds decayed prodigiously.1 On the loss and gain to humanity by the decay of religious belief, historians have wrangled interminably, some stressing the blow to human pride, some the contribution to human despair by depriving man of the hope of a meeting beyond the grave, while others have welcomed the end of one of the most prolific causes of human anguish—the fear of damnation. Contemporaries, however, discussed the significance of the decay of religious belief with less concern for its cosmic meaning. They saw a new earth, one in which heaven was no longer situated in the sky above, nor hell below, in which behaviour and misfortune were not to be attributed to malign agencies, to devils, witches, or sorcerers. They recognized the unfathomable mysteries which excluded dogmatism or arrogance in questions of faith: they were aware of human ignorance, for, as a contemporary put it, all things were great darkness to them and they were so to themselves.2

The decay of religious belief coincided with a growing conviction of the social utility of the Christian religion, which helps to explain why in public they observed the rules of their religion with much solemnity, but in private regarded it not at all.3 The Protestant religion served them in two ways: it was a happy instrument in the hands of Divine Providence for the propagation of the pure and unadulterated truths of Christianity unmixed with popish superstitions, and unstained by the bloody rigours of the inquisition. It preserved the higher civilization against the menace of Catholic superstition and material squalor, as well as the social dangers of infidelity.4 They detected a connection between religious and civil liberty on the one hand and material prosperity and human behaviour on the other, for in Protestant eyes it was the Protestant religion which had rendered the meanest country, the Dutch republic, a paradise, and converted the most distressed and dejected of the human race into the bravest soldiers and the most enterprising seamen.5 In the same way Fielding saw Tom Jones as a man of heroic ingredients, because he was a hearty well-wisher of the cause of liberty and of the Protestant religion.6

The other source of a higher civilization was trade or commerce. It was commerce that excited and encouraged universal industry by providing that all who took pains reaped profits; it was commerce which was beneficial to society, by which application to private interests was in reality the truest testimony of public spirit; it was commerce which explained why Great Britain and Holland made so much a greater figure in Europe than Sweden or Denmark.7 It was the promise of an extension of commerce which revived European interest in the south seas—the hope either that the Dutch had been wrong in their descriptions of New Holland, or that the unknown ‘terra australis’ would be discovered, or that Van Diemen’s Land might be exploited, on the grounds that such countries must be extremely rich and valuable, simply because the richest and finest countries in the known world all lay within the same latitudes.8 Improvements in ship-building, in aids to navigation, in the diet of seamen, in the knowledge of winds and currents, created more favourable circumstances for the success of such voyages.9

So the eighteenth century witnessed a revival of exploration in the south seas. Roggeveen, the Dutchman, sailed in 1721.10 Bouvet, the Frenchman, presented his ideas in a memorial of 1735, some of which Bougainville tried to carry out between 1766 and 1769.11 The Russians sent out expeditions;12 the Spanish sent theirs.13 In 1739 the first English expedition sailed under the command of Anson, who carried with him at least one whose hopes of immortality were not snuffed out in the general decay of religious belief, for the tablet to his memory in St Michael’s Church, Cumnor, near Oxford, testifies that one of the sailors was buried in the great South Sea in hope of a joyful resurrection when the sea shall give up her dead. Byron sailed round Cape Horn in 1764, followed by Wallis and Carteret in 1766, all in search of countries hitherto unknown to any European power to redound to the honour of the nation, the dignity of the crown, and the advancement of trade and navigation.14 Then, in 1767, before Wallis and Carteret had returned, the British Admiralty appointed a man of stature to command an expedition to observe the transit of Venus, and to search for a continent or land of great extent to the south of the route followed by Wallis or other commanders.15 He was Lieutenant James Cook.

Cook was born at Marton in Yorkshire on 27 October 1728, and lived his early life in Staithes and Whitby where, as a youth, he must have seen the abbey of the older faith crumbling in ruins on the bluff which overlooks the town. Behind him there were the Yorkshire moors, and in front the vast, ever restless, ever complaining sea.16 At the age of fifteen he was bound apprentice to a coal shipping firm at Whitby, entered the navy as an able seaman in 1755, served in the Seven Years’ War on the European and North American stations, helped General Wolfe in the assault on Quebec, and gained a considerable reputation both for the quality of his charts and for his care in supervising scientific observations. On 26 May 1768 he was promoted to the rank of lieutenant and given command of the expedition to observe the transit of Venus at Tahiti and to search for a continent in the south seas.

Yet on all this, on the cradle of the man, he remained silent all his life, as indeed he held his tongue and pen on most questions affecting the inner man. This has forced posterity to repeat the platitudes of the obituary notices, of those prose writers who have told us that the constitution of his body was robust, inured to labour, and capable of undergoing the severest hardships, or how his stomach bore without difficulty the coarsest and most ungrateful food.17 Others wrote panegyrics of him as a brave and deserving sailor. A letter writer to the Gentleman’s Magazine, in 1803,18 using appropriately as his pen name ‘An Old Briton’, thought that one modest stone in Westminster Abbey, with his name and a short account of his merits, would impart greater delight to a feeling mind than all the expensive monuments raised in honour of fiddlers and players, which occupied so much space there. A poet wrote rather fulsomely of how ‘HUMANITY’ had motivated him, while another eulogized him as the world’s great friend, who had taken to foreign climes and rude, the sheep, the heifer, the stately steed, the plough, commerce and fair science.19

Cook comes alive however, as a man, in the descriptions by men who travelled with him on his voyages. Heinrich Zimmermann, who travelled with him on the third voyage in 1777-9, saw him as a tall, handsome, strong, rather lean man, with dark brown hair, dark skinned and rather squat. He saw him as very stern, and hot-tempered—indeed so much so that the least opposition on the part of an officer or a seaman upset him completely. No one was bold enough to gainsay him. He often sat at table with his officers without saying a word, and yet at times he was very friendly towards his crew. He never spoke of religion; he would tolerate no parson on board the ship; he very seldom observed the Sabbath. Yet in other respects he was a righteous man: he never cursed, not even in the greatest rage; he encouraged his men to wear clean clothes on Sundays; moderation was a cardinal virtue with him, for none ever saw him drunk, while he punished drunkenness in others with the greatest severity. On Saturdays he was more kindly than on other days for then he would take a glass of punch more than was his wont, and drink to the health of all pretty women and girls, while preserving strictly his own chastity. On the island of Tahiti, where other men yielded to the attractions of the women folk, he alone was above reproach.

He was brave, a man of indomitable courage, and sensitive of his own honour and respect. When the natives forgot their respect for him or mocked him, he burned with rage, and was sometimes immoderate in his vengeance. No wonder then that Zimmermann should add that on the day he died every one was silent and depressed, for Cook was a fine representative of the righteous and upright man not sustained by the consolations of religion.20 Yet one thing was lacking from the picture drawn by his contemporaries: that tare which led him to his destruction, that inner confidence which chance and circumstance puffed into an overweening pride and belief in his own powers. But in the beginning the abilities, the native talents, the power gained by self-discipline and control prepared him for his role as one of the greatest navigators of all time, before the tare led him to his destruction at the very moment he had climbed the pinnacles of human achievement.

With him, on the Endeavour, he took Joseph Banks. Banks was born in London on 2 February 1743, and educated at Harrow and Eton where his tutor described him as being well disposed and good tempered but so immoderately fond of play that his attention could not be fixed to study. At fourteen, however, he discovered the passion of his life when walking along a lane the sides of which were enamelled with flowers. It was more natural, he believed, to be taught to know all those productions of nature in preference to Greek and Latin. It remained the ruling passion of his life, and lingered long after the fires of love and ambition had died in his breast. In 1766 he became a member of the Royal Society on the eve of departing on an expedition to Newfoundland, during which he became so sick that he tied himself to a gun on the deck to defeat the weakness. On his return he offered to sail with Cook and so Banks, who believed that every consideration a man made of the works of the Almighty increased a man’s admiration of his Creator, joined a man who found the mysteries of all religions very dark.21

The Endeavour sailed from Plymouth on 26 August 1768, for which day the entry Cook wrote in his diary sharpens the contrast between him and his predecessors, whether from Catholic or Protestant Christendom. For where Magellan’s and Quiros’ men had taken the sacrament, and Tasman had beseeched God Almighty to vouchsafe His blessing on his work, Cook recorded the facts: ‘At 2 p.m. got under sail and put to sea . . .’22 They rounded the Horn and sailed for Tahiti, arriving there on 12 April 1769. While the scientists observed the transit of Venus, Cook spent much of his time observing the life of the natives, measuring it as he put it against the first principles of human nature.23 For Cook wrote of this people, not with that enthusiasm or delight of a man who believed civilization was an evil, or that noble savages had preserved the secret of human happiness, but rather with a strong inclination to insert in his journal every scrap of knowledge he could obtain of a people who for many centuries had been shut off from almost every other part of the world.

All the early observers of the Tahitians tended to project on to them the tensions in their own minds. Bougainville, who was less driven than Cook to dispense praise or blame, noted their addiction to spending their whole lives in pleasure, which gave them a marked taste for that gentle raillery born of ease and joy. It also gave their character a degree of levity which astonished the Frenchmen daily, for the slightest degree of reflection seemed unbearable toil to them, and they avoided fatigue of the mind even more than fatigue of the body.24 The missionaries on the Duff, who arrived at Tahiti in 1797, saw them in quite a different light. These men believed that man at the beginning of the world had been seduced by Satan to eat of the fruit of a tree and, having thereby lost the image of God, had involved the whole human race in ruin and imparted to it a nature wholly corrupted and depraved. They found the Tahitians dissolute, and their society a sink of lewdness and cruelty. On the day they first mentioned the name of the saviour of mankind from the consequences of this transgression, they sang to them the hymn: ‘O’er the gloomy hills of darkness.’25

Some of these missionaries settled in Sydney in 1798, where they influenced Protestant attitudes to primitive people—to the aborigines, the Maoris, and the Pacific islanders. It was not until Cook reached the east coast of New Holland that he was ready to put down on paper his thoughts on the advantages of the life of a savage over those of a civilized human being. While at Tahiti he confined himself to such a generalization as that the mysteries of most religions were very dark and not easily understood even by those who professed them.26

On 15 August 1769 he decided to stand directly to the southward from Tahiti in search of the southern continent, though not expecting to find one, for paradoxically enough, Cook was one of the greatest sceptics concerning its very existence.27 From 15 August on they sighted nothing till 7 October, when Cook, the man of coolness and precision, noted in his journal: ‘At 2 p.m. saw land from the mast head bearing WBN.’28 That was Poverty Bay, on the south-east coast of the north island of New Zealand. Cook spent from October 1769 to March 1770 charting the coasts of the two islands of New Zealand, and making occasional entries in his journal on the way of life and beliefs of the Maoris, though again, as at Tahiti, the experience did not stimulate in his mind any comparison between the savage and the civilized. By March, having finished his work on the coasts of New Zealand, he began to turn over in his mind the route to be followed on the way home.

To go by Cape Horn had its attractions as by taking this route he would have been able to prove or disprove the existence of a southern continent, which, he added with his customary dry scepticism on that point, yet remained doubtful. But the Cape Horn route would have meant sailing in a high latitude in the very depth of winter, and the condition of the ship was not thought sufficient for such an undertaking. No human discomfort could influence the intrepid Cook. To sail direct to the Cape of Good Hope was laid aside as no discovery of any moment could be hoped for in that route. After consulting the officers, Cook resolved to return by way of the East Indies, by the following route: to steer westward until they fell in with the east coast of New Holland (a name also used by the Dutch for the Southland from as early as the 1630s). He was then to follow the direction of that coast till they arrived at its northern extremity, or if this were found to be impracticable, to fall in with the lands or islands discovered by Quiros.29
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3 Pacific Voyages from Cook to Flinders

So Cook sailed westward. One fact which he omitted to mention in his discussion of his motives, was that on the Endeavour he had a map on which a dotted line traced the course of Torres in 1607,30 for just as the mysteries of religions may be very dark, so are the motives which move men to those decisions from which flow such singular events as the coming of European civilization to Australia.

Again chance played its part. Cook was sailing for the east coast of Van Diemen’s Land, but the great swell of the ocean nudged the Endeavour northwards. On 17 April 1770 a small land bird was seen to perch upon the rigging, but Cook, as unromantic as ever about significance or possibility, sandwiched this in between his nautical observations. Two days later they sighted land, but again Cook restricted himself to a typical cautious aside on the unlikelihood of land between Van Diemen’s Land and New Holland, adding modestly that anyone who compared his journal with that of Tasman would be as good a judge as he. ‘I have Named it Point Hicks,’ Cook wrote in his journal, ‘because Leuit’ [sic] Hicks was the first who discover’d this land.’31 Again he used the simple language of the observer; for Cook, the occasion demanded neither majesty of language nor sanguine sentiments. He then sailed northward looking for a place to land, and on 28 April at last decided on a place which appeared to be tolerably well sheltered from the winds, but ran into difficulty in deciding on a name. He plumped first for Sting-ray’s Harbour, Botanist Harbour, and Botanist Bay, before finally choosing Botany Bay on Sunday, 6 May.32

On 29 April, just after one of the aborigines threw a stone at the small boat as a mark of their resolution to oppose a landing, Cook replied with light musket shot, while the wives and children of the aborigines on the beaches set up a most horrid howl. In this way the European began his tragic association with the aborigines on the east coast. A few minutes later Cook turned to Isaac Smith: ‘Isaac, you shall land first’, and the white man waded ashore.33

From 29 April to 6 May they examined the hinterland of Botany Bay, finding in many places a deep black soil which produced, besides timber, as fine meadow as ever was seen and which Cook believed was capable of producing any kind of grain. This burst of enthusiasm was to perplex all subsequent visitors to Botany Bay as well as to embarrass those who wanted to raise Cook above criticism as an observer,34 though this temporary aberration was destined to carry more weight than his cautious summing up after passing the northern extremity of the coast. During his stay in Botany Bay, Cook caused the English colours to be displayed ashore every day and an inscription to be cut upon one of the trees near the watering place setting forth the ship’s name, and the date of their arrival. So the English began their ceremonies in Australia, though, apart from Cook’s own words and the diaries of his companions, the sole memorial of their coming lived on in the minds of the aborigines, who weaved into the songs in which they commemorated the story of their people the memory of the winged bird which came over the mighty ocean, and, they believed, would one day return. But they were the only ones to entertain such a faith at the time.

For on 6 May, having decided that they had seen everything this place afforded, Cook weighed anchor and sailed north, noting that at latitude 33° 50’ by observation they were abreast of a bay or harbour wherein there appeared to be safe anchorage, which he called Port Jackson.35 Between Botany Bay and the northern extremity they landed at Bustard Bay, Thirsty Sound and Endeavour River, by which time the rigour of their experiences, the harshness of the country and the implacable hostility of the aborigines almost certainly caused those more unfavourable comments by Cook which contrast sharply with the cry of delight he had allowed himself during those halcyon autumn days at Botany Bay, when they were recuperating after the green swell and swing of the Tasman Sea.

On 22 August 1770 at Possession Island, off the northern tip of Cape York peninsula, having satisfied himself that New Guinea was separate from New Holland, acknowledging he could make no new discoveries on the west coast the honour of which belonged to the Dutch navigators, and being confident that the eastern coast had never been seen or visited by any European before them, Cook hoisted the English colours and in the name of His Majesty King George III took possession of the whole eastern coast from the latitude of 38° south to Possession Island by the name of New South Wales, and fired three volleys of small arms which were answered by a like number from the ship.36 From that day the western half of Australia was known as New Holland, and the eastern half as New South Wales; it was still unknown whether a passage divided them, or whether a passage divided Van Diemen’s Land from New South Wales.

Between Cape York and Timor, Cook summed up in his journal his impressions of the country and the aborigines. In his remarks on the country he distinguished between its condition in a state of nature, and what it might become at the hand of industry. In its state of nature the land was indifferently watered and indifferently fertile; the trees were hard and ponderous and could not be applied to many purposes. By nature the land produced hardly anything fit for man to eat; nor did it produce any one thing that could become an article in trade to invite Europeans to fix a settlement upon it. Yet to Cook this eastern side was not that barren and miserable country that Dampier and others had described the western side to be. Fruits and roots of every kind would flourish were they once brought thither and planted and cultivated by the hand of industry, as there was provender for more cattle at all seasons of the year than ever could be brought into the country.37 Substitute sheep for cattle, and this becomes a prophecy in broad outline of the pastoral period in the history of Australia.

At that time, however, Cook alone entertained hopes of turning the hard rock into a standing water by the hand of industry. The sameness and the barrenness had overwhelmed the other articulate ones on the Endeavour. Banks complained of the sameness to be observed in the face of the country, that its soil was uncommon barren and so far devoid of the helps derived from cultivation as not to be supposed to yield much towards the support of man.38 Another man on the Endeavour described the shore as barbarous and inhospitable.39

To the aborigines they felt more kindly. Of their character Cook wrote with surprising fondness: a timorous and inoffensive race, he found them, in no ways inclinable to cruelty. Of their achievements in culture he wrote more unfavourably, finding their tools very bad, their houses mean small hovels not much bigger than an oven, and their canoes very bad and mean. Then, in a passage for which the reader of his journal is not prepared by any previous hints, Cook, in words befitting the majesty of his theme, reflected on the connection between the way of life of the aborigines and human happiness:

 

   From what I have seen of the Natives of New-Holland, they may appear to some to be the most wretched people upon Earth, but in reality they are far more happier than we Europeans; being wholy unacquainted not only with the superfluous but the necessary Conveniencies so much sought after in Europe, they are happy in not knowing the use of them. They live in a Tranquillity which is not disturb’d by the Inequality of Condition: The Earth and sea of their own accord furnishes them with all things necessary for life, they covet not Magnificent Houses, Household-stuff &ca, they live in a warm and fine Climate and enjoy a very wholesome Air, so that they have very little need of Clothing and this they seem to be fully sencible of, for many to whome we gave Cloth &ca to, left it carlessly upon the Sea beach and in the woods as a thing they had no manner of use for. In short they seem’d to set no Value upon any thing we gave them, nor would they ever part with any thing of their own for any one article we could offer them; this in my opinion argues that they think themselves provided with all the necessarys of Life and that they have no superfluities.40

Cook wrote these words on the eve of a declaration in another place that all men had a right to pursue happiness, when the high-minded were dreaming of those better things in what had hitherto been accepted as a vale of tears, while others subscribed to the view that civilization was the enemy of human happiness. For the achievement has informed his words with an occasional majesty, just as it has puffed up that flaw in his make-up, that point where the hand of the potter faltered.

On 22 October 1770 they arrived at Batavia, where Cook again essayed a generalization that whoever gave a faithful account of this place must in many things contradict all the authors he had had the opportunity to consult.41 But most of the time there his mind was on quite other things: on repairs to the ship, and on the well-being of his crew, for Batavia threatened to take a terrible toll on health, even on life. They left at last on 26 December for the Cape of Good Hope. As the ship rose and fell on the green swell of the Indian Ocean, events in Asia and North America were preparing the way for the voyage to acquire a significance which no member of the crew could ever have pondered. In India and the Indonesian archipelago a new era of territorial conquest and occupation had begun in response to the change in the economic use of those areas to the commercial companies exploiting their wealth.42 During the long pull home after rounding the Cape of Good Hope they heard again of news from the English colonies in America, as they had heard earlier in Batavia that the American disputes were made up.43 So Cook, almost at journey’s end, brushed up against an event, or the prelude to an event, which was to lead to an attempt to found a penal colony at Botany Bay, on the site of that meadow as fine as ever was seen. He was brushing up against the prelude to an event in which a new vision of human life was to be brought to birth. In this vision all men were born equal, and all men had a right to life, liberty and the pursuit of happiness. By which they did not mean that happiness, that hope of re-union with God, which had inspired Quiros, nor that happiness which Cook had detected in the aborigine, but a happiness here on earth, a vision of a day when men should neither hurt nor destroy. This new vision of human life was emerging as Cook sailed home from a country in which the European would in time rejoice in its promise, and dream that this millennial Eden was actually drawing nigh.44

But no such thoughts, no such hopes, crossed Cook’s mind as he anchored in the Downs on Saturday 13 July 1771 and, as he put it, ‘soon after I landed in order to repair to London.’45 With this simple statement he characteristically ended his journal, adding later a postscript on how to search for a southern continent, supposing it were to exist.46

For Cook did not predict any significance for his discoveries. The first time he discussed them, in a letter to the Admiralty from Batavia in October 1770, he had written of them with modesty, with an almost apologetic tone, perhaps even with a note of disappointment. Although the discoveries were not great, yet he flattered himself they might merit the attention of their lordships, although he had failed to discover the so much talked of southern continent (slipping in between brackets a Cookism that perhaps it did not exist) before concluding that though he himself had this discovery much at heart, yet he was confident that no part of the failure of such discovery could be laid to his charge.47 He wrote in much the same vein after his return to England, that he had made no very great discoveries, then adding that he had explored more of the great south sea than all that had gone before him.48 At no time did he foresee the coming of European civilization to New South Wales. Nor were the scribblers in the London press any more prescient, except possibly for one chance peep into the future in the Public Advertiser on 21 August 1771, where the writer predicted that it was to be expected that the territories of Great Britain would be widely extended in consequence of those discoveries.49 But in general the press titillated its readers with hints of sexual licence on the islands in the south seas, which was a much more likely subject of human interest than the barbarisms and inhospitable shores of New South Wales, or that meadow at Botany Bay.50

The coffee house wits and pamphleteers mocked and ridiculed the enthusiasm of Cook and his fellow-officers for the way of life of the south sea islanders. The reports prompted a blast from Dr Johnson that just because ignorant savages laughed at some of the follies of civilized life it did not follow that men were better without houses.51 One mocked at the supposed beauties of the Tahitian language, and at the claims of Banks as an amoroso;52 another mocked at the manners of a country where bottom waggling was the royal salute.53 A solitary verse-monger posed the question which had bothered Cook after seeing the aborigine:

 

Can Europe boast, with all her pilfer’d wealth,
A larger share of happiness, or health?54

 

But the majority dismissed it as a huge joke, though it may be a tribute to the stature of Cook that the scribblers left him out of their mockery. Officialdom also recognized his achievement, for on 14 August 1771 Cook was given his captain’s commission.

The one result taken seriously was Cook’s own suggestion that another expedition should be sent to search for the southern continent so that the discoveries in the south seas would be complete.55 On 23 June 1772 the Admiralty commissioned Cook to proceed on further discoveries towards the South Pole in search of the southern continent.56 As second-in-command they appointed Tobias Furneaux, who was born near Plymouth in August 1735, joined the navy and served off the French coast, the coast of Africa and the West India station till 1766 when he sailed with Captain Wallis in the Dolphin on a voyage of discovery. Cook and Furneaux left Plymouth Sound in the Resolution and the Adventure on 13 July 1772, sailing first to Madeira, then to the Cape of Good Hope. From there they sailed south, passing between innumerable high ice islands, but without finding any land.57 So, on 16 March 1773, Cook turned north, hoping to test whether Van Diemen’s Land was joined to the east coast of New South Wales, but strong winds drove him on to New Zealand, reaching Dusky Bay on 25 March 1773. In the meantime Furneaux, who had become separated from Cook in high latitudes, called at Frederick Henry Bay before rejoining Cook at Dusky Bay.58

For the rest of the voyage, suffice it to say that Cook, after many weeks in high latitudes, concluded there was not the least possibility of there being a continent unless near the Pole.59 Two weeks earlier he had written with a strange beauty on the same point:60

 

   It is however true, that the greatest part of this Southern Continent (supposing there is one) must lay with the Polar Circle where the Sea is so pestered with Ice, that the Land is thereby inaccessible. The risque one runs in exploring a Coast in these unknown and Icy Seas, is so very great, that I can be bold to say, that no Man will ever venture farther than I have done and that the lands which may lie to the South will never be explored. Thick fogs, Snow Storms, Intence Cold and every other thing that can render Navigation dangerous, one had to encounter and which are greatly heighten’d by the inexpressable horrid aspect of the Country, a Country doomed by Nature never once to feel the warmth of the Suns rays, but to lie for ever buried under everlasting Snow and Ice.

To Cook this meant, as he put it, that a final end had been put to that search after a southern continent which had at times engrossed the attention of some of the maritime powers for near two centuries past and the geographers of all ages.61 Perhaps bitterness caused him to add that his fastidious attention to cleanliness would make the voyage remarkable after disputes about a southern continent had ceased to engage attention.62 The ships returned to Spithead on 29 July 1775, Cook’s characteristic last entry in his journal being on the small error in Mr Kendal’s watch.63

This time the mockers were silent, perhaps in awe of the achievement of a man who had seen the vision of a country doomed to lie forever buried under everlasting snow and ice. The serious-minded La Pérouse summed this up simply in a conversation with one of the captains of the first fleet: ‘Enfin Monsieur Cook a tant fait, qu’il ne m’a rien laissé à faire, que d’admirer ses oeuvres.’64 An anonymous poet rejoiced to read again of the life of men liberated from some of the evils of civilization: how Europe had been overwhelmed too long by a superstitious dream; how he welcomed with relish a new religion for a sceptic age, a creed which spared vices because it had been purged from priestcraft and from prayer.65 One of the members of Cook’s crew asked his readers to acknowledge with a thankful heart those blessings of civilization and revealed religion, which had given him a distinguished superiority over so many of his fellow creatures, who followed the impulse of their senses, without knowing the nature or name of virtue, without also being able to form that great idea of general order which could alone convey to them a just conception of the Creator.66 These resembled more the sentiments of the men who brought civilization to Australia than those somewhat heady sentiments of the men on the first voyage. But on the possible uses of his discoveries no one uttered a word.

So it looked in 1775 as though Cook had been the grave-digger of ‘terra australis’, though neither mourners, nor prophets, nor mockers performed at its funeral. It looked as though all who had believed in or searched for a ‘terra australis’ had disquieted themselves in vain. It looked as though the only result of an infinity of human effort and anguish—by the Hindus with their stories of islands of gold, the Chinese with their kingdoms of women, the Muslim merchants with their kingdom of Antichrist, the Catholics with their dream of a land dedicated to the Holy Spirit, the Protestants with their Jehovah and their view of human depravity, and the sons of enlightenment with their message of hope for better things—had been the sight of a barbarous and inhospitable shore and the sight of the miserablest people in the world. But four years later, when the fatal flaw in Cook was leading him on to his destruction at the hands of the savages he loved, a man who had sailed with him on the Endeavour was urging the British government to found a penal colony at Botany Bay.
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THE CHOICE OF BOTANY BAY

THE PROPOSALS for the use of a southern continent had a history almost as long though by no means so distinguished as the history of its discovery. Some saw it as land dedicated to the Holy Spirit; some saw it as a land fit only for the refuse of society, on the principle that the political body, like the human body, is often troubled with vicious humours, which one must often evacuate.1 Just as the quest for a southern continent promoted the alpha and the omega of human behaviour, so the discussion of its use revealed all the bewildering variety of human aspirations. In the reign of Elizabeth two proposals were made for trade in the south seas. In 1625 an eminent London merchant petitioned the king for the privilege of erecting colonies in ‘terra australis’ in return for granting land to him, his heirs and assigns. Early in the eighteenth century Captain John Webbe proposed to form a company to carry on trade with ‘terra australis’. In 1718 Jean Pierre Purry urged the Governor-General of the Dutch East India Company in Batavia to begin a colony in Pieter Nuyt’s land, pointing to the advantages for their commerce.2 But all such schemes came to nought, only to be resurrected from the waste-paper basket of history by the actual coming of European civilization to Australia.

The preoccupation with the material benefits of trade in the second quarter of the eighteenth century quickened European interest in the south seas. Campbell, who published an edition of Harris’ Collection of Voyages and Travels in 1744, believed labour might improve, arms might extend, but that only commerce could enrich a country. He urged the English to establish a colony at New Britain in the Solomons to open up trade with ‘terra australis’.3 In 1756 de Brosses had urged the use of New Holland as a receptacle for criminals, on the grounds that in every society there was a proportion of men whose only occupation was to harm others.4 In 1766 J. Callander plagiarized part of the book in his Terra Australis Cognita. When he plagiarized the other volume in 1768 he added a sectarian motive and some thoughts on trade to make sure the English took notice.5 The first two voyages of Cook put New Holland or New South Wales as names in the pamphlet literature on the possible uses of lands in the south seas, in which the authors explored the possibilities of beneficial commerce and tossed off the idea that such lands might be used as bases from which to tap the wealth of the Indies, or to plunder Spanish trade in the south seas, or to begin trade with Chile.6

So the idea of using New Holland was canvassed at the unofficial level, in coffee houses, press and pamphlet, till 1776, when the enthusiasm of its supporters, which had been tempered by the counter drift of opinion against colonization, languished into silence in response to the revolt of the thirteen colonies in North America. For a season it looked as though the revolt had strengthened the hand of those who advanced moral scruples against colonization and trade, who were uneasy to accumulate profits by stealth, by the violence of rapine, or dexterity of fraud.7 It looked too as though the wisdom of the political economist would be heeded, that wisdom which prompted Adam Smith to remind people that the same passion of human avidity which had suggested to so many people the absurd idea of the philosophers’ stone had suggested to others the equally absurd one of immense riches of gold and silver in the new world.8 These words were written in 1776. In the same year other human passions played their part in transferring the discussions about New Holland and New South Wales from the wits in the coffee house and the scribblers in Grub Street to the men who advised His Majesty’s government. For in July of that year, with a firm reliance on the protection of Divine Providence, the Americans revolted, proclaiming to the world that all men were endowed by their Creator with certain unalienable rights, and that among these were life, liberty and the pursuit of happiness.9 They proclaimed, too, their decision that their soil should no longer be polluted by British criminals.10

In 1717 a system of transporting convicts from the British Isles to the North American colonies had been begun to deter wicked and evil disposed persons from committing crimes, and to provide labour for the colonies. Convicts sentenced to transportation were sold by their gaolers to shipping contractors who shipped them to the West Indies or the southern American colonies, where they were sold again to plantation owners who acquired a property in their labour for the term of their sentence. All told, between 1717 and 1776, approximately thirty thousand convicts from England and Scotland, and ten thousand from Ireland, were transported to the colonies in America. By the end of 1775, when the opposition to convicts in America became confounded with the opposition to political oppression, demand slackened, and in that wave of righteous anger which possesses people resisting an oppressor, the convicts were not permitted to land. This forced the British government to look for alternative destinations.

On 1 April 1776, in an exhibition of the skill of the politicians, Lord North told the House of Commons that transportation had been found to be attended with various inconveniences, that in particular it had deprived the kingdom of many subjects whose labour might be useful to the community, and who, indeed, by proper care and attention might be reclaimed from their evil courses. To retain the value of their labour, and assist in their reclamation, the government had decided to institute prison hulks. Under this system, convicts sentenced to transportation were accommodated on hulks on the Thames or in the naval harbours on the south coast, and forced to labour by day on such public works as dredging sand and silt. In the beginning the system worked tolerably well despite outbreaks of gaol distemper and lamentations by prison reformers about the effect on profanity and morality of herding convicts together. These lamentations seduced the unwary to infer an indifference, even a callousness and a brutality, amongst those in power to the sufferings of the criminal classes.11

It was, however, neither unsavoury conditions nor talk of Sodom and Gomorrah which persuaded the British government to think again about the use of convicts sentenced to transportation, but rather the failure of the hulks to accommodate the number under sentence. A committee of the House of Commons was appointed in 1779 to examine this pressure on accommodation, and to consider whether transportation was practicable to other parts of the world.12 The committee reported on the pressing want of some adequate provision for convicts sentenced to transportation—estimating the number to be near one thousand annually. They also reported that they had taken evidence on possible sites. One witness recommended Gambia on the west coast of Africa; another recommended Gibraltar; many expatiated eloquently on the value of convict labour, and the moral benefits of transportation to English society.

Joseph Banks told the committee that the place which appeared to him best adapted for such a purpose was Botany Bay on the coast of New Holland in the Indian Ocean, which was about seven months’ voyage from England; that he apprehended little probability of opposition from the natives as those he had seen were naked, treacherous, and armed with lances, but extremely cowardly; that the climate was moderate; that the proportion of rich soil was small in comparison to the barren, but sufficient to support a very large number of people; there were no tame animals, no beast of prey, but he did not doubt that oxen and sheep if carried there would thrive and increase; there was great plenty of fish; the grass was long and luxuriant; there were some eatable vegetables; the country was well supplied with water; and there was abundance of timber and fuel.

In the beginning they must be furnished with a full year’s allowance of victuals, raiment and drink, with all kinds of tools for labouring the earth, with cattle, sheep, hogs and poultry, with seeds of all kinds, with arms and ammunition, with small boats, nets and fishing tackle; but afterwards, with a moderate portion of industry, they might undoubtedly maintain themselves without any assistance from England. On being asked whether the mother country were likely to reap any benefit from a colony established in Botany Bay, he replied that the people would necessarily increase and find occasion for many European commodities, adding it was not to be doubted that a tract of land such as New Holland, which was larger than the whole of Europe, would furnish matter of advantageous return.13

So time had brushed the impression of sameness and harshness from his mind, or maybe the desire to confer an imperishable name on the lands where he had had the big experience of his life caused his memory to play tricks. The committee, unlike the historian, showed no interest in the secrets of his heart. They agreed that a change should be made in the existing system for the maintenance and employment of convicted felons, and that it might be of public utility if the laws authorizing transportation to the colonies in North America were made to authorize the same to any part of the globe that may be found expedient. But they were not yet prepared to say where that would be.14

In the meantime Cook was making his last contribution to the debate on the possible uses of New Holland. In July 1776, the Admiralty commissioned him to attempt to find a northern passage by sea from the Pacific to the Atlantic Ocean, to return Omiah to Tahiti, and to distribute presents among the chiefs of the Friendly Islands and the natives of the countries they might discover in the northern hemisphere.15 Two ships—the Resolution and the Discovery—were fitted out for the voyage, with Captain Charles Clerke in command of the Discovery. Cook sailed from England in the Resolution on 12 July 1776. Clerke, who was a sick man, followed later in the Discovery and met him in Table Bay, South Africa, from where they sailed south in a fruitless search for the continent Kerguelen claimed he had seen. Then, briefly, they refreshed the crews and gathered supplies in Adventure Bay on the south coast of Van Diemen’s Land. The year 1777 was spent exploring the Friendly Islands and the Society group. During 1778 they sailed to the Sandwich Islands and then to Nootka Sound, near Vancouver, where Cook scribbled in his journal some reflections on the fur trade before attempting to find the northern passage from the Pacific to the Atlantic. This attempt took him deep into the Behring Strait and to Kamchatka, on deeds of heroism and exploits of navigation which earned him the highest praise from Russian writers on Pacific exploration. From Kamchatka he sailed once again to the Behring Strait before returning to the Sandwich Islands to avoid the rigours of the northern winter.

On 14 February 1779 at Karakakoa Bay on Hawaii Island, some natives stole the cutter of the Discovery. Cook determined to recover it and punish the thieves. Then chance and that tare of the potter combined for the destruction of one of the giants of this world. As Cook was returning to the boats off shore, one of his boatmen, on his own initiative, fired at some natives in canoes, and by chance killed a chief of the first rank. The natives were incensed, and by gesticulations and chants made plain that they would avenge his death. But Cook would not believe that anything could touch him. The sergeant of marines warned him of his danger, but, as one eye-witness put it, there seemed to be a degree of infatuation attending him which rendered him deaf to everything. The natives pressed upon him, and he was last seen to push them back, exclaiming ‘Get away, get away!’ He fell beneath their clubs and stones, and his body was hacked.16

One witness of the disaster was the master of the Resolution, who spent the day in terrible rages. His name was William Bligh. Others who witnessed the scene recognized that a giant had been cut down, that a man who had settled the boundaries of the earth and the sea and had looked death in the face in a thousand forms had at last been cut off by the hands of a cowardly savage, who, dreading the impetuosity of his rage, came behind him and stabbed him in the back.17 In the same year Banks, whom nature had endowed with more of the power to survive, was urging in London that a tract of land such as New Holland would furnish matter of advantageous return, while a few years later a solitary writer urged the government to use New Holland as a base for English ships proceeding to Nootka Sound in pursuit of the tremendous fortune to be made from selling furs from Nootka Sound to the Chinese.18

When the Resolution and the Discovery returned to Deptford on 6 October 1780, with the melancholy news of the death of their two commanders (for the ailing Clerke had died on 22 August of the same year), officialdom was caught up with the American revolt and its irritating by-product, the overcrowding of the hulks and the gaols caused by the suspension of transportation. So long as the War of Independence lasted the official policy was to make do with such expedients as the hulks, until such time as an American surrender permitted transportation to be renewed. On this the British remained doggedly sanguine. As late as July 1783 George III was writing rather waspishly on this theme to Lord North, ‘Undoubtedly,’ he wrote, ‘the Americans cannot expect nor ever will receive any favour from Me, but the permitting them to obtain Men unworthy to remain in this Island I shall certainly consent to.’19 Within a month, with such dignity as a man can muster when confronted with disaster after predicting triumph, he had accepted the Treaty of Versailles, the first article of which stated simply: ‘His Britannick Majesty acknowledges the said United States.’

From September 1783 to March 1784 the government spasmodically attempted to persuade the planters in the southern states to buy convicts, until finally the contractor, Duncan Campbell, admitted defeat and added his own name to the tiny band of philanthropists and interested parties who were pestering the government to consider a permanent solution to the problem of what to do with the felons sentenced to transportation.20 By then the escapes of felons from the hulks, as well as anxiety about the spread of gaol distemper and smallpox, enabled the philanthropists and charity workers to play on the fears of those in high places, while hints and complaints of the hulks as schools of villainy and vice tweaked consciences into action.

While the philanthropists and charity workers clamoured for action, men with solutions began to submit their plans to the Home Office. On 23 August 1783 one James Matra, who had sailed with Cook on the Endeavour, dropped in his plan in which he sketched the possible uses for New Holland. Matra had picked the minds of other people on trade with China, furs from Nootka Sound, spices from the Moluccas, and the cultivation of the flax plant. When the Secretary of the Home Office, Lord Sydney, got round to granting Matra an interview eight months later, in April 1784, he told him that what he was really looking for was a solution to the problem of felons sentenced to transportation. So Matra went away and tacked the idea of New Holland as a convict colony on to his first draft. To justify this union of the trade arguments with the solution to the transportation problem he reminded the Home Office that good policy and humanity were thereby united.21 But the Admiralty, to whom the Home Office had passed on the Matra plan for comment, was not impressed; the length of the navigation did not encourage them to hope for many of the advantages in commerce or war which Mr Matra had in contemplation—a conclusion they reached eight months after Matra submitted his revised plan.22

In the meantime the philanthropists, charity workers, and other interested groups were addressing their demand for a permanent solution to a wider and more powerful audience. Early in 1784 the House of Commons had debated a bill to renew transportation, in which the words of the preamble made it clear that while people agreed on the need to renew transportation, no thinking had been done so far on the site.23 In the short debate on the bill only one speaker, a Mr Hussey, mentioned a place: he said he meant New Zealand, lately discovered in the south seas.24 As the year wore on however, all sorts and conditions badgered the Home Office to name a site. At the end of that year the Lord Mayor of London wrote to the Under-Secretary for the Home Office about the increase of men escaping from the hulks.25 In January 1785 Sir George Young, a naval officer of distinction, submitted his solution, which was to use New Holland both to advance English trade and to solve the convict problem.26 In March, with that reckless and irresponsible talk which the Anglo-Irish were prone to use to prod the more phlegmatic English into action, Burke told the House of Commons that there were one hundred thousand languishing in English gaols. Burke went on to plead against the use of Gambia for there, he put it to the house, was the capital seat of plague, pestilence and famine; there, he concluded, all life dies and all death lives.27 On 20 April 1785 the House of Commons set up a committee under the chairmanship of Lord Beauchamp to inquire into the operation of the transportation act of 1784 and what further measures might be necessary to carry the purposes of the said act into effect: that is, they were asked to report on a site.28

This committee presented persuasively the case for a decision by the government. The extraordinary fullness of the gaols encouraged that constant intercourse between offenders by which they corrupted and confirmed each other in every practice of villainy. The hulks had contributed singularly to these mischievous effects by the forming of distinct societies for the more complete instruction of all newcomers; they did not reform, but confirmed offenders in every vicious habit. Crimes still multiplied in defiance of the severest exertions of justice. The hulks were a dead charge to the public, except for the small return made by their work at Woolwich Warren. The committee then went on to declare that these mischiefs were in great measure to be attributed to the want of a proper place for the transportation of criminals. For members believed that the old system of transporting offenders to America had answered every purpose which could be expected of it; it had reclaimed them, it had tended to break gangs and combinations of criminals, it was not attended with much expense to the public, it had benefited the colonies, it had removed the convicts into back country where they found none of those temptations which occasioned their offence at home.

They were just as unequivocal on the type of colony to be established. They rejected the idea of composing an entire colony of male and female convicts, partly because such an experiment had never been made in the history of mankind, and partly because outcasts of an old society would not serve as the foundation for a new one. Society could not exist without justice, without order, and without subordination, to which convicts must of necessity be strangers. The labour of convicts could be put to most useful purposes: to establish a new settlement for enlarging commerce, as well as to defend the settlement. In a new society that aversion to labour and that inequality of fortunes which stimulated men to crime in the old world would have no force. The convicts would remain honest for want of a temptation to be otherwise, while the hope of being restored to freedom might reform even the most refractory.

They were not quite so confident in recommending where such a colony should be established. Lord Sydney had told them at the beginning of their inquiry that different ideas had been suggested on the subject, but that such suggestions were either made in conversation or appeared unworthy of the attention of the committee, and that no such plan as was required existed in his office. But others came forward with suggestions. Some argued for a site on the west coast of Africa as an aid to British commerce with India and the east. Others condemned this because climate, hostile and treacherous natives and man-eating animals in the rivers would promote riot and confusion. Matra and Banks again recommended New Holland or Botany Bay, the latter once more eulogizing the fertility of the soil, the timid disposition of the inhabitants, and the climate, adding this time the suggestion that a supply of women could be obtained for five hundred convicts from the islands of the Pacific. The committee boggled at the expense, however, when the shipping contractor, Duncan Campbell, informed them that the voyage to Botany Bay could not be undertaken for less than thirty pounds a man, or six times the cost of transporting a convict to America. Nor had they been seduced by the expectations of Banks on the commercial possibilities of Botany Bay, for in putting the question to Campbell about expense, they spoke of Botany Bay as a place where no kind of trade was carried on.29

The committee, however, was not prepared to commit itself. All it was prepared to say was that it had been induced to turn its thoughts towards Africa, as it was incumbent on the public to provide a place of transportation without delay or resort to some more practicable system of punishment, for otherwise the respect for the administration of criminal justice would be lessened.30 In August 1785 the Admiralty commissioned the sloop, Nautilus, to examine the west coast of Africa. When its officers reported the entire region as unfit for a settlement of that description,31 the situation at the end of 1785 was the same as at the beginning. The government was committed to a renewal of transportation, while parliament, press, pamphlet, and pulpit were pestering them about overcrowding in the gaols and the mischiefs likely to ensue from such a situation.32

At the beginning of 1786, members of parliament were needling Pitt, arguing that the suspension of transportation had caused numerous daring and dangerous gangs of villains to assemble to the great annoyance of the public. For by then the press and more irresponsible members of parliament were infusing their campaign for a decision with a shrill note of hysteria. On the morning of 24 March 1786 the convicts on board the hulk at Plymouth rose upon their keepers, and were not subdued until eight were shot dead, and thirty-six wounded.33 In the previous year a pamphleteer had drawn a picture of crime: ‘Highway robberies,’ he wrote, ‘threaten the traveller, whether by night or by day—the lurking foot-pad lies, like a dangerous adder, in our roads and streets—the horrid burglar, like an evil spirit, haunts our dwellings, making night hideous.’ All through 1784, 1785, 1786 and 1787 the press of the metropolis and the provinces was filled with stories of unhappy wretches being launched into eternity, of others labouring under real or artificial disorders and showing them unasked to the public, strolling in the streets with impunity, rendering the air noxious with their stench and endangering the health of the respectable members of society.34 Pitt restrained all such emotional stampedes with a becoming and, indeed, a singular dignity, reminding the zealots that it was easier for a gentleman to state and complain of the grievance than for government to find out and apply an adequate remedy, and adding that the government would continue maturely to weigh a great variety of proposals.35

He was then just twenty-seven years old, tall and slender, but without elegance or grace, for his features were prominent and coarse. In manner he was cold and stiff, a man who seemed never to invite approach, or to encourage acquaintance.36 His opponents called him unkindly the boy statesman, whispered that he was intemperately addicted to the bottle, and compared his ardent public declamations in favour of religion with his unsound private convictions. He had too, according to his enemies, an insurmountable jealousy of place and honour which led him to prefer instruments to associates and to commit the execution of his plans to those who were unworthy of them. His admirers, who included the historian Gibbon, retorted that he had raised himself to the government of an empire by the power of genius and the reputation of virtue, and that before him the opposition was as chaff before the wind. They saw him as a man who went into the House of Commons not to cringe and bow but to do the business of the nation.37 Behind the cold and rather forbidding exterior there lay that inner man who loved his sister, the man who declined the sacrament on his death-bed because of a sense of his own unworthiness.38

But only those who knew and loved him in 1786 were aware of such wells of warmth and compassion. Only the few perceived that his reluctance to commit himself on the problem of felons sentenced to transportation proceeded from the profound conviction that all human interference with the body politic was fraught with disaster. To his opponents, this reluctance flowed from laziness and a callous indifference to the sufferings of the human wretches in the gaols and the hulks. They forgot the other problems with which he was besieged—the debts of the Prince of Wales, the negotiations for a treaty with France, the impeachment of Warren Hastings, and the agitation against the slave trade, beside which the convict problem appeared as a gnat to an elephant.39

The drift on the convict question was caused as much by the pressure of other business, as by the character of the man responsible for submitting a solution to cabinet—Lord Sydney. Mr Thomas Townshend, commonly denominated Tommy Townshend, owed his political career to a very independent fortune and a considerable parliamentary interest, which contributed to his personal no less than to his political elevation, for his abilities, though respectable, scarcely rose above mediocrity.40 The poet Goldsmith saw him exclusively as a dispenser of political interest, imputing a rottenness to a political system which exacted that a man of the learning of Edmund Burke should be obliged to strain his throat to persuade Tommy Townshend to lend him a vote.41 He had been raised to the peerage in 1783 for his part in concluding the treaty with America, and given the Home Office. He enjoyed the esteem of Charles James Fox, who was happy to see him loaded with honours; he enjoyed, too, amongst his friends a reputation for oratory and energy through which he maintained a conspicuous place in the front ranks of his group or faction.42 The labours and anxieties associated with this possession of political interest, rather than any innate tendency to drift and procrastinate, contributed much to that gap of two years between the decision to renew transportation and the choice of a site.

In June 1786 cabinet discussed proposals to send convicts to the West Indies, to Canada and to the west coast of Africa, but once again no decision was reached.43 Then, on 18 August 1786, Sydney finally announced the decision in a letter to the Lords of the Treasury. One factor alone had convinced him of the need for a definite decision: the several gaols and places for the confinement of felons were so crowded that the greatest danger was to be apprehended not only from their escape, but from infectious distempers. As the coast of Africa had been found unfit for a settlement, His Majesty had thought it advisable to fix upon Botany Bay which, according to the accounts given by Captain Cook, as well as the representations of persons who accompanied him during his last voyage and who had been consulted upon the subject, was looked upon as a place likely to answer these purposes. After sketching plans to preserve a proper degree of subordination and regularity by the despatch of officers and three companies of the marine corps, and to provide women from the islands, provisions for two years, and cattle and seed to make them independent (though making no provision for their spiritual comfort and instruction), Sydney requested the Lords Commissioners of the Treasury to prepare shipping to transport supplies, provisions and men to Botany Bay.44

The same motive was repeated in the heads of a plan sent to the Treasury as an enclosure with this letter, where the plan was described as a remedy for the late alarming and numerous increase in felons in the country and more particularly in the metropolis.45 Indeed, everyone associated with the execution of the decision named the overcrowding in the gaols as the only motive, some, however, adding the hope that the colony might also be useful to the mother country.46 In general the heads of a plan repeated the points made in the letter. For their lordships at the Treasury, it added an assurance that the difference in the expense between this mode of disposing of convicts and the usual ineffectual one was too trivial to be a consideration with government, at least in comparison with the great benefit to be gained from it, as the evil had increased to such an alarming degree. It also added the bait of potential advantages—the cultivation of the New Zealand flax, the cultivation of Asiatic products, and timber from New Zealand for the navy.47 So in a perfunctory, slapdash way, some of the commercial arguments for New Holland were tacked on to the Botany Bay solution for the evil of over-crowded gaols.

The government’s decision was made known to parliament in the speech from the throne on 23 January 1787. On that day, Pitt entered the House of Commons with a quick and firm step, his head erect and thrown back. He looked neither to the right nor to the left, nor favoured with a nod or a glance the men of property among whom were many who would have been gratified by so slight a mark of attention by the greatest subject that England had seen during many generations.48 He heard the Speaker of the house read the decision of the government: ‘A plan has been formed by my direction, for transporting a number of convicts, in order to remove the inconvenience which arose from the crowded state of the gaols in different parts of the kingdom.’ In the debate on the address in reply only one speaker mentioned the proposed transportation of convicts, calling it a measure of absolute necessity arising from the crowded state of the gaols. The others spoke on subjects of greater moment.49

More notice was taken of the proposal in books and in the press. Late in 1786 an anonymous author published An Historical Narrative of the Discovery of New Holland and New South Wales in which the commercial and strategic advantages were stressed side by side with the solution to the overcrowding of the gaols. Early in 1787 another anonymous author published the History of New Holland, from its first discovery in 1616 to the present time.50 This discussed the wishes entertained by the sober part of the community on the Botany Bay experiment, then contemplated a grander vision of Botany Bay as a settlement which would enhance the comforts and add to the lights of polished society, as well as of its own still uncivilized possessors, and tend to the general happiness of mankind and the glory of that Being whose providence had reserved their discovery to the present generation. Such speculations inspired at least one eighteenth-century reader to an even grander vision, for one man scribbled on the end pages his belief that at Botany Bay the perfection of the present race of men appeared destined to be consummated.51 So at least one son of enlightenment apotheosed convicts into the vessels of human perfection, and dreamed of a consummation in New Holland clean different from the Dampier picture of it as a cradle for the most miserable people in the world. Another pinned his hopes on the offspring of the convicts and the women from the Pacific Islands. From this union of the convicts with a set of the most beautifully formed women that the sun beholds, he wrote in a letter to Joseph Banks on 13 December 1786, Botany Bay might be peopled with beings that would be an ornament to human nature, and a generation of social benevolent beings might arise.52

The poets took up the idea. One W. Sotheby hoped a tear of penitence might drop on the soil and turn to blessing that dread curse of God which had smitten that ground.53 Erasmus Darwin dreamed of a day when hope stood sublime, when embellished villas crowned the landscape scene, farms waved with gold, orchards blushed between, and joy’s loud voice was heard from shore to shore.54 The London press called it a colony in New Holland in the Indian Seas at Botany Bay on the west-side of the island—an error which was copied by the press in the other capitals of Europe.55 The Irish press started a quite unfounded rumour that the Dutch had protested against the British planting a settlement on a territory which they asserted belonged to another country.56 By December 1786 the press in London had settled down to accepting the scheme as a solution to the overcrowding in the gaols. The more imaginative conjured up pictures of what it would be like if the spirit of reformation began to leaven that society, and thieves began to flourish and be respectable,57 while others wrote of it as both providing a place for the convicts as well as a settlement which might be made highly beneficial to Asiatic commerce.58 At another level the proposal caught the popular fancy. On 24 April 1787 a theatre proprietor begged leave to acquaint the nobility, gentry, and public that at the Royal Circus they could see the opera ‘Botany Bay’, along with such other entertainment as rope dancing, conjuring, and displays of horsemanship.59

The convicts, however, did not share the amusement of the nobility, gentry, clergy and the public at the proposal. Some of them were terrified, choosing death rather than a removal from their old connections.60 Some were mournful:

 

All you that’s in England, and live at home at ease

Be warn’d by us poor lads, that are forc’d to cross the seas,

That are forc’d to cross the seas, among the savages to go

To leave friends and relations to work at the hoe.61

 

Some were light-hearted:

 

’Taint leavin’ old England we cares about.62

 

Others petitioned friends in high places to hear their sighs and groans. They saw themselves caught between death in England, or perpetual exile and arbitrary government in a barbarous country where the remainder of their lives would be made bitter with hard bondage. They pleaded for the reduction of the number of crimes carrying the death penalty, for in England thieves were accounted as sheep for slaughter, and the life of a man had grown continually cheaper. The ideas of reformers such as Sir Thomas More, they believed, were closer to the infallible laws of God than the sanguinary statutes of the Christian kingdoms of their day.63

The convicts were not the only ones to dwell on the possible evil consequences of the decision. Alexander Dalrymple listed the many dangerous consequences to be dreaded from this ‘thievish plan’, from the moral evil of surrounding men undergoing punishment with creature comforts to jeremiads about the effect of the thieves on the reputation of British commerce in Asia.64 But the worm of failure had been feeding on him ever since that day in 1768 when he learned that Cook and not he would command the Endeavour on its voyage to the south seas. Others shrank in horror from the darkness of the scheme, condemning it as beneath the disquisition of reason, and below the efforts of ridicule.65 Some shrank from conferring the respectable station of landholder on a felon, from sowing some of the worst seeds in the world upon some of its best land,66 while others painted pictures of convicts in succeeding times filling the Chinese and Indian seas with slaughter and depredation.67 In Scotland there was anxiety about the scheme because trial and transportation would cost the public four times the value of the articles stolen. To one Scot the Botany Bay scheme was the most absurd, prodigal and impracticable vision that ever intoxicated the mind of man.68

In general the critics lacked the vision of the supporters. No one paused to ponder the effect on the aborigine: no one questioned the wisdom or pondered the effects of transplanting European civilization to the vast south land for the simple reason that the critics concentrated on the thieves. At least the supporters had their hopes. For them the settlement would solve overcrowding in the gaols, effect mundane benefits by an expansion of commerce, or even create a new society in which the great dream of the enlightenment would come to pass—the perfection of the human race. For them these victims of the overcrowding of the gaols were making the voyage across the oceans of the world as exiles not only from their families and their country, but also from God.
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THE BEGINNING OF SYDNEY COVE

IN THE MEANTIME, the Home Office and the Admiralty began to prepare for the departure of the first fleet for Botany Bay: to choose the officers, select the convicts, equip the ships, and purchase supplies to support them during the voyage and till such time as they could support themselves or receive more supplies from England. As Captain General and Governor-in-Chief, the Home Office chose a retired naval officer—Captain Arthur Phillip. He was then forty-eight years old. He was born in London on 11 October 1738, the son of Jacob Phillip, a teacher of languages from Frankfurt in Germany, and of Elizabeth Phillip, née Breach. He entered the navy at the age of fifteen, saw active service in the Seven Years’ War, was commissioned as a lieutenant in 1762, retired on half pay in 1763 on the conclusion of peace, and married, but not happily, for in 1769 he made an agreement of separation with his wife before he began farming near Lyndhurst in Hampshire in the south of England. He served again in the navy from 1770-1, and received permission to enlist in the Portuguese navy in 1774 where he was promoted to the rank of captain. He returned to the English navy in 1778, became a post captain in 1781 and in 1782 commanded the Europe on which by chance one of the lieutenants was Philip Gidley King. Phillip retired on half pay in 1784, and was again farming at Lyndhurst when Lord Sydney offered him the position of Governor of New South Wales.1

Of the motives which prompted Lord Sydney to make the offer, and Phillip to accept, but little is known. For on these motives, as so often in human history, what has survived has been the malice of his detractors, who whispered that Phillip had so long pestered those in high places for some such preferment that in desperation they silenced him with Botany Bay; or of those more skilled in the art of the character assassination of men climbing the ladder of official preferment, who dropped the hint that the little they knew of Captain Phillip would not have led them to select him for a service of that complicated nature.2 But the stature of the man who won the battle for survival in New South Wales cannot be expected to emerge from the malice of the mockers, if only because in attributing ambition they missed out on that vision which sustained him through the days of unleavened bread in New South Wales. This vision began to form in his mind as he fussed and fretted over the preparation for departure. He was not sustained by either of the great faiths of his age, either by the vision of God’s throne, or by the vision of human perfection here on earth. From his actions from the moment he accepted the offer in September of 1786 it is clear that he had been endowed by nature with an inner dignity though, if one may judge from the portraits, he was somewhat careless if not indifferent to questions of personal appearance.

The face also suggests belief in the Roman or stoical virtues of courage, duty, discipline and self-control, the strength to stand firm when the world rocks, while the loose-fitting jacket suggests a person sterner with the inner than the outer man. The face suggests, too, what all who were to be associated with him testified to abundantly—that he had a power to evoke the affection of the men who worked under him, to inspire them to give of their best in his service, and the gift of making inferiors feel their baser motives and behaviour were not worthy of their Governor. The eyes in the portrait suggest some pain, some wound about which history and his biographers have perforce been silent. By chance he was endowed with one singularity in his appearance which contributed to the success of his relations with the aborigines. For a front tooth in his upper jaw was missing; so what partially disfigured him in polite society, became for the aborigine a sign that he was one of them.

As Lieutenant-Governor the Home Office appointed Major Robert Ross on 24 October 1786. He had joined the marines in 1756, became a captain-lieutenant in 1773, served in America, was promoted captain in 1774, and brevetmajor in 1783. In this way a man so indifferent to outward form as to allow a sock to tumble down his legs served with a man who signed every official letter—Robert Ross, Major.3 As Judge Advocate, the Home Office appointed Captain David Collins. He was born probably in 1754 (though some say 1756),4 educated at Exeter Grammar School, entered the army, became a lieutenant in 1771, fought in America where he was married and promoted to the rank of captain in 1779, took part in the relief of Gibraltar in 1782, and then retired on half pay to Rochester in Kent. In person he was remarkably handsome, and his manners extremely prepossessing, while to a cultivated understanding and an early fondness for the belles-lettres he joined the most cheerful and social disposition.5 So he appeared to the outside world, who did not detect how the inner man was tormented by ambition, both his own and his wife’s, nor that preoccupation with evil and retribution, that fear of damnation which gave an Old Testament flavour and dignity to his pronouncements on his fellow human beings. Time and circumstance were to ravage him, for at the end of his days the remarkably handsome, prepossessing and cultivated young man of thirty-two had developed into the Lieutenant-Governor at Hobart Town who took snuff in handfuls while watching men flogged.6

As Chaplain, the Home Office appointed the Reverend Richard Johnson, who had been recommended by the Society for the Propagation of the Gospel. He was born, probably in 1753, in Norfolk and educated at the grammar school at Kingston-upon-Hull, from where he won a sizarship to Magdalene College where he absorbed the principles of the evangelicals. He graduated in 1784 and, with the help of influence from Wilberforce and the Society for the Propagation of the Gospel, was offered the chaplaincy of New South Wales in October 1786.7 His sponsors entertained great hopes for the success of his work, that he would prove a blessing to lost creatures, and hasten the coming of that day when the wilderness became a fruitful field, when the heathen would put off their savageness, and put on the graces of the spirit.8 To assist him the Society provided a library of tracts and books, the very titles of which uncover that gap between intention and performance in the men whose principles condemned them to a dependence on the Word. In addition to Bibles, Books of Common Prayer, and Psalters, Johnson took with him copies of Osterwald on the necessity for reading the scriptures, Kettlewell’s offices for the penitent, copies of exercises against lying, of cautions to profane swearers, of exhortations to chastity, of dissuasions from stealing together with the most fervent wishes from the board of the Society that the divine blessing might go with him.9 For Johnson was a most worthy man, but trapped by the pitiful equipment with which he was endowed for the execution of his noble purpose, as so many men have been. He was trapped too by the conflict between his own and the Governor’s conception of the utility of religion. Where he saw religion as the divine medium for eternal salvation, the Governor treasured it as a medium of subordination, and esteemed a chaplain according of the efficacy of his work as a moral policeman. So Johnson, like all the evangelicals, spent his days torn between the temptation to hold the depravity of his charges responsible for the failure of his work, and that other temptation to lacerate himself for his own unworthiness to serve the Lord.

As surgeon, the Home Office chose John White, a young man of thirty years, a man of much credit in his profession, and of that tenacity of temper that rendered him a very proper person for such an establishment.10 Similar encomiums were made on the talent and experience of the other civil and military officers. Amongst the naval officers there were John Hunter and Philip Gidley King, whose lives and fortunes thus began to be associated for good and evil with the history of the colony of New South Wales. Amongst the army officers, all of whom were volunteers, were men such as Lieutenant William Dawes, a man of such distinction as an astronomer that the Astronomer Royal commended him as a man worthy to observe a comet which was expected to be seen in south latitudes in 1788. Indeed, so engaged was Dawes with the stars that to mortal eye he was not always visible.11 There was Watkin Tench, who had joined the marines as a second lieutenant in 1776, and was promoted to captain-lieutenant in 1782—a rank he held when in 1786 he volunteered to serve in New South Wales. Tench was a man who found it easy to like his fellow human beings, a man who wrote of their motives with an insight sweetened by charity, a man who delighted in the beauty of the world, who looked confidently to its improvement rather than brooded sombrely over any darkness in the hearts of men. Except for Dawes and Hunter, who shared the convictions and the aspirations of the reverend chaplain, these officers were characterized by their faith in commonsense, men who disdained enthusiasm either for the religion of the Established Church, or the faith of the enlightenment, or the belief in the noble savage. They accepted the Protestant religion very much as Tom Jones had accepted it, for its contribution to higher civilization and liberty, for its services in emancipating mankind from priestcraft and superstition, while remaining discreetly silent about their attitude to the Thirty-nine Articles of the Church of England. They were men of talent, men of experience, men who had volunteered from motives of ambition, curiosity and a desire to serve, but they were not aware of those gigantic forces of good and evil which had driven their predecessors in the great south seas to glory or damnation. They belonged to a climate of opinion which encouraged restraint and moderation. Yet at least one of their number was passion’s slave. He was Ralph Clark, a second officer of the marines, who shortly after the first fleet weighed anchor began a diary in which he gushed out all the anguish and torment of his daily life.

All told, nineteen officers were appointed. With them went twenty-four non-commissioned officers, eight drummers, one hundred and sixty privates, thirty wives, and twelve children. On the number of convicts estimates vary. Just on three weeks before sailing an official return put the number at five hundred and sixty-five men, one hundred and fifty-three women, six boys and five girls, or seven hundred and twenty-nine all told.12 Towards the end of 1786, the Admiralty commissioned two ships to convoy the convict transports—H.M. Sirius and the tender ship Supply. At the same time the Home Office contracted with shipowners to make available, equip and victual as transports and storeships for the convicts the Alexander, the Charlotte, the Scarborough, the Friendship, the Prince of Wales, and the Lady Penrhyn, together with the storeships Borrowdale, Golden Grove, and Fishburn. In the winter of 1786-7 the officers (without their wives), the marines (with their wives and children), and the men and women convicts, with the children of the women, assembled at Portsmouth to prepare for departure.

In the beginning an indescribable hopelessness and confusion dominated the scene. The shop-keepers, in terror, lowered their shutters; the householders barred their doors; the convicts overcrowded the transports; the women convicts lolled on the decks in indescribable filth and their all too scanty clothing. Food was very short; medical supplies were non-existent; there was no provision to pay the marines; tools and ammunition were scarce.13 In the terror and anxiety of impending exile, rumours began to circulate to add to the confusion. Some whispered that the fleet would sail within three weeks;14 some said they knew for certain the unemployed had petitioned the Home Office for permission to accompany the convicts to Botany Bay.15 No sooner had the latter rumour started than the wives of the convicts began to pour into Portsmouth from all parts of the country, but especially from London, to badger the officials in the name of humanity to permit them to travel with their husbands.16

But Phillip did not despair, nor did he succumb to the temptation to question the humanity of the people responsible for such a mess. With a becoming dignity he set down on paper the vision by which he would guide his behaviour in New South Wales. He wrote first of his intention to furnish the aborigines with everything that could tend to civilize them, and to give them a high opinion of their new guests. He then uncovered his values by declaring that as convicts could not be used to lay the foundations of an empire they should ever remain separated from the garrison, for on the convict question he always allowed personal prejudice to suppress all reference to their economic use, as well as their possible restoration to society. What was taking shape before his eyes was the future of the territory as a free society. He wrote of it in the grand manner: ‘There can be no slavery in a free land, and consequently no slaves.’ At that time he was harbouring neither illusions nor kindly feelings towards the convicts. The only two crimes which he believed merited death were murder and sodomy. For either of these crimes he would deliver the criminal to the natives in New Zealand and let them eat him, as the dread of this would operate much more strongly than the fear of death. For the rest, his mind was turning over the problems of food, clothing, and shelter in the new settlement. On goods of barter for the aborigines, his ideas were the commonplace ones of hatchets, beads, and a few small grindstones for the chiefs, though he added one queer idea—that as he understood the aborigines used a light, small tin lamps must be very acceptable.17

At the same time he appealed to the Admiralty and to the Home Office to ease the overcrowding, increase the rations, clothe the half-naked women, and provide medicines for those distressed in mind or body. By the middle of March 1787 he had so sharpened his language, that he was telling Nepean: ‘If you don’t do what I ask, at least let the world know I was asking,’18 and adding he was certain it was not the intention of His Majesty’s ministers to send the marines out of the country in a worse state than troops were ever before sent out of the kingdom.19 All round him high-minded motives jostled in his fellow-officers with the base and the petty. White laboured to obtain fresh food and wine for the sick; the same White pestered the Home Office to provide him with a servant, as without a servant his situation would, he believed, be truly uncomfortable.20 The marines petitioned for a free ration of grog on the grounds that it was one of the principal necessaries of life.21 Higher aspirations swayed the behaviour of others who swept swiftly across these early pages of the history of New South Wales. A Catholic priest, the Reverend Thomas Walsh, told Lord Sydney that if the ignorance of the Catholic convicts were removed, and their obligations as men and Christians forcibly inculcated, this might be a means of their becoming useful to themselves and perhaps afterwards to their country, and the practice of their religion might bring them out of the wretched state of depravity into which they had fallen.22 For where the evangelical trusted in the Word to work an amendment of life, the Catholic trusted in the efficacy of the sacraments. But on all questions touching the Protestant ascendancy Sydney, like Tom Jones, behaved as a man of heroic ingredients. So the Catholic convicts were deprived of their means of grace and their hope of glory, simply because Lord Sydney believed sincerely that their means of grace could only be ministered to them at the risk of weakening the Protestant ascendancy.

The minds of those responsible for the success of the scheme did not linger long over problems of eternal salvation. Their minds were dwelling on the more mundane problems of how to feed, clothe and keep alive the marines and convicts under their charge. Such prospects improved in April and May. In April, the government got round to issuing a more detailed commission and instructions to Phillip and providing him with a semblance of a constitution. His first commission, issued on 12 October 1786, had done little more than appoint him Governor of the territory called New South Wales, and define the boundaries of that territory to extend from Cape York in latitude 10° 37’ to the southern extremity of the said territory of New South Wales in the latitude of 43° 39’ south, and all the country inland to the westward as far as the one hundred and thirty-fifth degree of longitude, including all the islands adjacent in the Pacific Ocean. It also required him carefully and diligently to discharge the duty of governor in and over the said territory by doing and performing all and all manner of things thereunto belonging. It required the officers, soldiers and all others to obey him, and the Governor to observe and follow the orders and directions he received under the signet and royal sign manual.23 On 2 April 1787 a second commission was issued which began by styling Phillip Captain-General and Governor-in-Chief of the territory of New South Wales, defined the same boundaries as in the first commission, recited the oaths to be taken on assuming office, and then proceeded to spell out some of his powers. He was to administer oaths of allegiance, to appoint justices of the peace and other officers of the law, to pardon and reprieve, to provide for the cure and custody of idiots and lunatics, to levy armed forces, to proclaim martial law, to erect fortifications, to exercise certain naval powers, to control public moneys, to grant land, to control commerce, to require civil and military officers and the other inhabitants to assist him in executing the commission and powers conferred on him, to hold execute and enjoy the office and place of Captain-General and Governor-in-Chief, together with the powers and authorities pertaining thereto for and during the royal will and pleasure.24

On 25 April the government issued his instructions. These began by repeating the definition of the boundaries of the territory, then instructed him to have his commission read in public, and to proceed with the naval ship, the tender and the transports with about six hundred male and one hundred and eighty female convicts on board to Botany Bay. If necessary and expedient he was to call at Teneriffe, Rio de Janeiro, and the Cape of Good Hope, where he was to put corn and seed grain on the ships, and to take on board any number of black cattle, sheep, goats, or hogs. On arrival at Botany Bay he was to discharge the transports promptly to enable those engaged by the East India Company to proceed to trade with China, then to found the settlement at Botany Bay where, after securing the company from any attacks by the natives, he was to proceed to the cultivation of the land, distributing the convicts for that purpose in such manner and under such inspectors or overseers and regulations as might appear to be necessary and best calculated for procuring supplies of grain and ground provisions. He was to use every proper degree of economy, and transmit a copy of all expenditure to the Commissioners of the Treasury who would judge its propriety or expediency. He was to account also for clothing and provisions issued to convicts or civil and military officers in the same manner. The productions acquired by the labour of the convicts were to be considered a public stock, the disposal of which was to be left to him for the subsistence of the convicts and their families or the civil and military establishments. He was to reserve some for the subsistence of a further number of convicts. As all the convicts would not be employed in the production of food, he should use some to cultivate the flax plant. In addition, he was to send expeditions to explore the coast, to colonize Norfolk Island, to open an intercourse with the natives, and to conciliate their affections, enjoining all subjects to live in amity and kindness with them, to ascertain their numbers, to punish those who wantonly destroyed the natives or interrupted their several occupations, and report in what manner intercourse with them might be turned to the advantage of the colony.

He was to enforce a due observance of religion and good order among the inhabitants, and take such steps for the due celebration of public worship as circumstances would permit. In the first draft of these instructions he was to grant full liberty of conscience, and the free exercise of all modes of religious worship not prohibited by law, provided his charges were content with a quiet and peaceable enjoyment of the same, not giving offence or scandal to government; he was to cause the laws against blasphemy, profaneness, adultery, fornication, polygamy, incest, profanation of the Lord’s Day, swearing and drunkenness to be rigorously executed. He was not to admit to the office of justice of the peace any person whose ill-fame or conversation might occasion scandal; he was to take care that the Book of Common Prayer as by law established be read each Sunday and Holy Day, and that the Blessed Sacrament be administered according to the rites of the Church of England.25 Because of the great disproportion of female to male convicts, he was to take on board at any of the islands any women who might be disposed to come, taking care not to make use of any compulsive measures or fallacious pretences. He was to emancipate from their servitude any of the convicts who should, from their good conduct and a disposition to industry, be deserving of favour, and to grant them land, victual them for twelve months and equip them with tools, grain, and such cattle, sheep and hogs as might be proper, and could be spared. As the military officers and others might be disposed to cultivate the land, he was to afford them every encouragement. To prevent trade between New South Wales and the settlements of the East India Company in India or the coast of China he was to prohibit the building of boats as well as such trading by vessels arriving at the settlement.26

At the same time the government passed through parliament an act to authorize the Governor to create a court of criminal jurisdiction in New South Wales.27 In the measured language of this statute, officialdom acknowledged that something more might be created in New South Wales than a place for the punishment and reformation of British criminals—that, as the preamble put it, it might be found necessary that a colony and a civil government should be established in the place to which the convicts were to be transported. This fell very short of that vision of empire which was taking shape in Phillip’s mind, but then the purpose of the statute was more sombre. It stated simply that all outrages and misbehaviours were to be tried by a court of judicature consisting of the Judge Advocate together with six officers of His Majesty’s forces by sea or land.28 The warrant to create the court of civil jurisdiction put the point more positively: ‘Wee find it Necessary that a Colony and Civil Government should be Established in the place.’29 For the recovery of debts and the determining of private causes a court of civil jurisdiction should be created, consisting of the Judge Advocate together with two fit and proper persons appointed by the Governor, with the Governor or Lieutenant-Governor sitting as a court of appeal, with a right of appeal to the Privy Council in any case where the debt or the thing in demand exceeded the value of three hundred pounds.30

In the meantime the conditions on board the convict transports began to improve. Overcrowding was eased; surgeon White received his fresh food and his hospital wines for which he thanked the humanity of Lord Sydney.31 A free allowance of grog was provided for the marines, for Sydney was a man too and anxious as he put it to remove every possible cause of dissatisfaction;32 and clothing was issued for the men, including a number of worsted night caps for such of the convicts whose hair it might be necessary to cut off.33 But the clothing for the women did not arrive, nor did the ammunition for the guns. On both, Phillip fussed and fretted as sailing day drew near. But, as that day approached, the desperate frantic note of the February and March letters to the Home Office mellowed into gratitude and affection, when the awareness of the momentousness of their business brushed aside the petty and the trivial, and his mind rose to the dignity of the occasion as he wrote to Evan Nepean, under-secretary at the Home Office.34

 

   Once more, I take my leave of you, fully sensible of the trouble you have had in this business, for which at present I can only thank you; but at a future period, when this Country feels the advantages that are to be drawn from our intended settlement, you will enjoy a satisfaction, that will I am sure make you ample amends. Wishing you health, I remain Dear Sir, your very sincere & obliged Friend,

A. PHILLIP.

That was written on Friday, II May 1787. On the Saturday the final performance of the opera Botany Bay was given at the Royal Circus Theatre in London.35

Early on the golden Sunday morning of 13 May, the fleet of eight ships, the Sirius, the Supply, the Alexander, the Charlotte, the Scarborough, the Friendship, the Prince of Wales, and the Lady Penrhyn, together with the three storeships, weighed anchor in Portsmouth harbour, and sailed down the channel for the high seas. In the town the shutters in the shops were still lowered, and one clergyman on shore went down on his knees to ask God’s forgiveness on all of them. Otherwise no one noticed their departure. In London, the home of over a third of the convicts, and of most of the men responsible for their departure, the weather that day favoured the lovers of riding and walking. The parks presented a fine show of carriages, of smart beaux and nags. The weather favoured too the display of summer dresses, and as the tartan was all the fashion, nothing but highland ladies and lasses were to be seen in the parks.36 At Carlton House, Mr Pitt was closeted for three hours with the Prince of Wales, discussing the problems of the latter’s debts which had by then reached one hundred and sixty-one thousand pounds. On the movements of Lord Sydney on 13 May history is silent, though there is no reason to suppose that a man for whom votes were the stuff of life pondered what had happened at Portsmouth on that morning.

The press, too, both in the British Isles and western Europe confined itself to the facts without comment. The London Chronicle announced the departure on 15 May, contenting itself with the simple statement that early on Sunday 13 May the transports and convict ships had sailed for Botany Bay. The Dutch press reported the facts likewise: ‘Den 13 deezer is het Eskader, naar de Botany-Bai in Nieuw Holland bestemd, en uit elf Zeilen bestaande, van Portsmouth derwards onder zeil gegaan’,37 but did not mention that it was to be a settlement for the punishment and reformation of convicts. In this matter-of-fact way the Dutch announced the first step in the colonization of that ‘Zuidland’ in which their ancestors had searched for gold and spices and precious timbers and found only a land where the flies crawled into the eyes, and the inhabitants were very black and very barbarian. But the minds of the Dutch as ever were on such things as the consignments of spices arriving from Java.38 The minds of the Parisians too were on other things, for there nothing was talked of so much as reform.39

According to Tench the faces of the convicts indicated a high degree of satisfaction as the ships moved down the channel, though in some the pangs of separation from their native land could not be wholly suppressed. Marks of distress were more perceptible among the men than among the women. One woman dropped some tears, but soon wiped them. After that the accent of sorrow was no longer heard as more genial skies and a change of scene banished repining and discontent, and introduced in their stead cheerfulness and acquiescence in their lot, now not to be altered.40 On that evening Ralph Clark scribbled his first entry in his diary:

 

   May the 13th. 1787. 5 O’clock in the morning. The Sirius made the signal for the whole fleet to get under way, O gracious God send that we may put in to Plymouth or Torbay on our way down Channel that I may see our dear and fond affectionate Alicia and our sweet son before I leave them for this long absence. O Almighty God heer my prayer and grant me this request . . . what makes me so happy this day is it because that I am in hoppes the fleet will put into Plymth Oh my fond heart lay still for you may be disappointed I trust in God you will not.41

 

But the fleet did not put in to Plymouth; and on 14 May Clark wrote: ‘Oh my God all my hoppes are over of seeing my beloved wife and son.’

The Reverend Richard Johnson was troubled too. He found the captain of his ship close, unsociable and ill-natured; and the ship’s company very profane. On the second Sunday, after he preached to the convicts on the heinous evil of common swearing, he was pleased to note for days afterwards that no coarsenesses passed their lips. So he knelt down in his cabin and beseeched his God to convince them of the folly and wickedness of such conduct. On that same Sunday a design by some convicts on the Scarborough to mutiny and take possession of the ship was discovered, the two ring-leaders being punished with two dozen lashes each.42 These things, however, did not trouble Johnson. He felt a warm desire of soul to pour out his sins and sorrows before the Lord.

When they arrived at Teneriffe at the end of May he and his wife watched a procession of people carrying a statue of the Virgin. Johnson was shocked: ‘Alas! Alas!’ he wrote to a friend in England, ‘what superstition and idolatry is all this—God make us thankful.’43 The procession stimulated quite different thoughts in the mind of Collins, who believed the same great Creator of the universe was worshipped alike by Protestant and Catholic. He therefore felt no difficulty in divesting the pageant of its tinsel, its trappings and its censers, and joining with sincerity in offering the purest incense, that of a grateful heart.44 While Johnson was thus thanking God for conferring on Englishmen the blessings of the Protestant religion, Phillip was fussing over such mundane affairs as procuring fresh meat and water, but not bread, as the latter was most expensive.45

On the voyage from Teneriffe to Rio de Janeiro the same pattern of behaviour was repeated. The convicts seemed incapable of experiencing that remorse and contrition which the pangs of exile were intended to rouse in their breasts, but displayed the depravity of their hearts. Some used their ingenuity to gain admission into the apartment of the female convicts, while another coined quarter dollars out of old buckles, buttons and pewter spoons with such cunning and address that White wished these qualities had been employed to more laudable purposes.46 Johnson was torn between the temptation to blame their depravity and the temptation to blame his own poor powers for his failure to communicate his message of hope. Clark gushed his guilt about drinking and gambling on to the pages of his diary, interspersed with words of tenderness for his fond Alicia and his darling son, and some angry words about the damned whores on board the ship, and how he was very glad to see that when a corporal flogged one of them he did not play with her but laid it home, for sentimentality and cruelty lived together in him too.47

The mind of Phillip was on quite different things, sometimes on such mundane matters as adequate clothing for the women, and sometimes on the type of civilization they would create in New South Wales. The arrival at Rio de Janeiro on 7 August 1787 prompted thoughts on what could be achieved with convict labour, for Rio de Janeiro had been built by convicts. One officer wrote back to London saying that his spirits had soared on reflecting that this flourishing and important colony was originally settled and peopled on a plan exactly similar to that of the present expedition.48 But Phillip would have none of this: he was confident he would see the time when Botany Bay would be of more use to England than as a drain for its more degraded inhabitants.49 Others drew quite a different sort of lesson from their experiences in Rio de Janeiro—Tench thought that any man who wanted to give his son a distaste for popery should point out to him the sloth, the ignorance, and the bigotry at Rio de Janeiro, while some of the other officers reflected on the superiority of Protestant over Catholic civilization.50 At the same time rum was laid in, and all such seeds and plants procured as were thought likely to flourish on the coast of New South Wales—coffee, cocoa, cotton, banana, orange, lemon, guava, tamarind, prickly pear, eugenia, and the ipecacuanha.51 On 4 September they sailed for the Cape of Good Hope.

They arrived at Table Bay on 13 October 1787. Here again the serious minded reflected on their future. A captain on an American ship, learning of their destination, suggested that in time free settlers would migrate to New South Wales not only from the old continent of Europe but also from the new continent of America, where the spirit of adventure and the thirst for novelty were, he believed, excessive.52 Some of the convicts were beginning to hope that the disgrace they had suffered in England, due to their crimes, would by good behaviour at Botany Bay be buried in oblivion; that removed from their wicked companions in London they would have no seducing opportunities to swerve them from the course of virtue; that in all probability they might be the founders of an empire greater than that from which they were banished.53 So the germ of the idea that the colony belonged to the convicts and their posterity began to form in the anonymous minds of the convicts during the voyage of the first fleet. At the same time Phillip and the officers purchased more plants and seeds and animals—fig, bamboo, spanish reed, sugar cane, vines, quince, apple, pear, strawberry, oak, myrtle, rice, wheat, barley, Indian corn, a stallion, mares, a bull, a bull calf, cows, sheep, goats, hogs, and poultry, so that as sailing day approached the ships, having on board not less than five hundred animals of different kinds, chiefly poultry, put on an appearance which suggested the idea of Noah’s ark.54

As the fleet sailed from Table Bay on 12 November, a melancholy reflection obtruded itself on the minds of a few. The land behind them was the abode of a civilized people; before them was the residence of savages. The refreshments and pleasures were to be exchanged for coarse fare and hard labour at New South Wales. All communication with families and friends was now cut off as they were leaving the world behind them to enter on a state unknown. To imprint this idea more firmly on their minds, and render the sensation still more poignant, that evening they spoke a ship from London.55 To some this was an attractive challenge: this leaving behind civilization, this task of exploring a remote and barbarous land, and planting in it the arts of civilization.56 Others were so overwhelmed by their private anguish that their minds could not soar to such a theme. Months earlier Clark had written in his diary: ‘If I thought I should have been so unhappy at leaving my family behind I should never have come away from them, I did not know half how much I love them all or all the gains in earth should never have made me leave them.’57

They sailed for Botany Bay with a very unfavourable wind and a heavy southerly swell which buffeted the ships so much that on Christmas Day the weather was too rough to permit them much enjoyment in their Christmas dinner, which, as Collins put it, they complied with in the good old English custom. After rounding Van Diemen’s Land they sighted the land of New Holland. By 19 January they were gratified with the sight of the entrance into Botany Bay.58

By 20 January 1788 the whole fleet had cast anchor in Botany Bay.59 In the next few days most were disappointed by what they saw—‘I cannot say from the appearance of the shore,’ wrote Clark, ‘that I will like it.’60 Surgeon White looked in vain for the fine meadows talked of in Captain Cook’s account, and concluded that that great navigator, notwithstanding his usual accuracy and candour, was certainly too lavish in his praises of Botany Bay.61 King noted that the soil was nothing but sand.62 Only the irrepressible Tench detected joy sparkling in every countenance, and risked the prediction that from this great day, the foundation, not the fall, of an empire would be dated.63 Collins had an eye for the achievement: how under the blessing of God the voyage had been completed in eight months and one week, in which they had sailed five thousand and twenty-one leagues, had touched at the American and African continents, and had at last rested at the antipodes of their native country without meeting any accident, and with the loss of only thirty-two from sickness.64
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